
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

AGENDA  
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

 
Date: Wednesday, 21 August 2019 
  
Time: 2.30 pm 
  
Venue: Collingwood Room - Civic Offices 

 
 
Members:  
Councillor N J Walker (Chairman) 

 
Councillor I Bastable (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Councillors F Birkett 

T M Cartwright, MBE 

P J Davies 

K D Evans 

M J Ford, JP 

Mrs K Mandry 

R H Price, JP 

 
Deputies: S Cunningham 

S Dugan 

Mrs C L A Hockley 

Mrs K K Trott 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 1 - 10) 

 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held 
on 17 July 2019. 
 

3. Chairman's Announcements  

4. Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of interest from members in accordance with Standing 
Orders and the Council’s Code of Conduct. 
 

5. Deputations  

 To receive any deputations of which notice has been lodged. 
 

6. Planning applications and Miscellaneous Matters including an update on 
Planning Appeals (Page 11) 

 To consider a report by the Director of Planning and Regeneration on development 
control matters, including information regarding new planning appeals and 
decisions. 
 

ZONE 1 - WESTERN WARDS 
 

(1) P/19/0510/FP - 71-73 ST MARGARETS LANE FAREHAM PO14 4BG (Pages 
13 - 28) 

ZONE 2 - FAREHAM 
 
ZONE 3 - EASTERN WARDS 
 

(2) P/19/0301/FP - LAND EAST OF CROFTON CEMETERY AND WEST OF 
PEAK LANE FAREHAM (Pages 31 - 63) 

(3) Planning Appeals (Pages 64 - 68) 

 
P GRIMWOOD 
Chief Executive Officer 
Civic Offices 
www.fareham.gov.uk  
13 August 2019 

 
 
 

http://www.fareham.gov.uk/


 

 

For further information please contact: 
Democratic Services, Civic Offices, Fareham, PO16 7AZ 

Tel:01329 236100 
democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk 

tel:01329
mailto:democraticservices@fareham.gov.uk


 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Minutes of the 
Planning Committee 

 

(to be confirmed at the next meeting) 

 
Date: Wednesday, 17 July 2019 
  
Venue: Collingwood Room - Civic Offices 

 
 

PRESENT:  

 Councillor N J Walker (Chairman) 
 

 Councillor I Bastable (Vice-Chairman) 
 

Councillors: F Birkett, T M Cartwright, MBE, P J Davies, M J Ford, JP, 
R H Price, JP, S Dugan (deputising for Mrs K Mandry) and 
Mrs C L A Hockley (deputising for K D Evans) 
 

 
Also 
Present: 

 
 

 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee  17 July 2019 
 

 

 
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor’s K D Evans and Mrs K 
Mandry. 
 

2. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting held on 24 
April 2019 be confirmed and signed as a correct record. 
 

3. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
There were no Chairman’s announcements made at this meeting. 
 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
In accordance with Standing Orders and the Council’s Code of Conduct the 
following Councillors declared the following interest on the items identified. 
 
Councillor T M Cartwright declared a non-pecuniary interest in Item 6 (1) – 
Land Adjacent to 125 Greenaway Lane, Warsash as he had previously 
expressed his opinion on this application. He left the room after making a 
representation as Ward Councillor and took no part in the discussion or vote 
on this item in order to avoid any pre-determination issues. 
 
Councillor R H Price declared a non-pecuniary interest in Item 6 (1) – land 
Adjacent to 125 Greenaway Lane as the deputee is known to him.  
 
Councillor T M Cartwright declared a non-pecuniary interest in Item 6 (2) – 
Warsash Maritime Academy, Newtown Road as he is a member of the 
Management Committee for Warsash Sea Cadets who use this facility. 
 

5. DEPUTATIONS  
 
The Committee received a deputation from the following in respect of the 
applications indicated and were thanked accordingly. 
 

Name Spokesperson 
representing the 
persons listed 

Subject Supporting 
or Opposing 
the 
Application 

Minute No/ 
Application 
No/Page No 
 

     

ZONE 1 – 
2.30pm 

    

Mrs H 
Megginson 

(Lead 
Petitioner) 

 LAND ADJACENT TO 
125 GREENAWAY 

LANE WARSASH SO31 
9HT – OUTLINE 

APPLICATION WITH 
ALL MATTERS 

RESERVED (EXCEPT 

Opposing 6 (1) 
P/18/0482/OA 

Pg 13 

Page 2



Planning Committee  17 July 2019 
 

 

FOR ACCESS) FOR 
THE CONSTRUCTION 

OF UP TO 100 
RESIDENTIAL 

DWELLINGS, ACCESS 
FROM GREENAWAY 

LANE, LANDSCAPING, 
OPEN SPACE AND 

ASSOCIATED WORKS 

Mr P Colbran 
(Agent) 

 WARSASH MARITIME 
ACADEMY NEWTOWN 

ROAD WARSASH – 
CONSTRUCTION OF 

NEW UNIVERSITY 
BUILDING TO BE 

USED AS FIRE AND 
POOL TRAINING 
CENTRES AND 
ASSOCIATED 

LANDSCAPING, 
SERVICE ROADS, 
AREAS OF HARD 

SURFACING, 
PARKING AND 

BOUNDARY 
TREATMENTS 
(FOLLOWING 

DEMOLITION OF THE 
JOHN 

THORNEYCROFT 
BUILDING, LOVAT 

HOUSE, DRUMMOND 
HOUSE, MOSS 

BUILDING, ESTATES 
BUILDING AND HOT 

AND COLD FIRE 
TRAINING UNITS) 

Supporting 6 (2) 
P/19/0344/FP 

Pg 41 

Mr I Donohue 
(Agent) 

 THE TITHE BARN MILL 
LANE TITCHFIELD 

PO15 5RB – 
RESURFACE CAR 
PARK AREA WITH 

TARMAC 
(RETROSPECTIVE 

APPLICATION) 

Supporting 6 (3) 
P/19/0316/FP 

Pg 60 

ZONE 2 – 
2.30pm 

    

 
    

ZONE 3 – 
2.30pm 

    

 
    

Page 3



Planning Committee  17 July 2019 
 

 

 
6. PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS 

INCLUDING AN UPDATE ON PLANNING APPEALS  
 
The Committee noted a report by the Director of Planning and Regeneration 
on development control matters, including information regarding new appeals 
and decisions. 
 
(1) P/18/0482/OA - LAND ADJACENT TO 125 GREENAWAY LANE 

WARSASH SO31 9HT  
 
The Committee received the deputation referred to in Minute 5 above. 
 
Councillor T M Cartwright declared a non-pecuniary interest in this item as he 
has previously expressed his opinion on this application. He left the room after 
making a representation as Ward Councillor and he took no part in the 
discussion or vote on this item in order to avoid any pre-determination issues. 
 
Councillor R H Price declared a non-pecuniary interest in this item as the 
deputee is known to him.  
 
The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Update Report which contained 
the following information:- 
 
Further comments from Hampshire County Council Highways received: 
 

 Larger vehicles passing on Greenaway Lane – Tracking has been 
undertaken by the applicant, shown in drawing numbers ITB13162-GA-012 
Rev A, ITB13162-GA-021 and ITB13162-GA-018. These drawings show a 
7.5t box van, super large refuse and estate car, the most regular users of 
the lane, safely routing along Greenaway Lane. To further back up the 
tracking drawings, two 7-day, 24 hour AYC surveys were undertaken on 
Greenaway Lane. A validation exercise was carried out for this data by 
cross referencing video footage against the ATC results to ensure the 
results corroborated with each other. The survey work confirmed that there 
was a limited number of LGV movements and very limited HGV 
movements during the survey period. The chance of interaction between a 
larger vehicle and family car is therefore low and one that can be 
accommodated within the current confines of the carriageway. The 
Highway Authority have secured funding as part of the application to close 
the existing access to Greenaway Lane, should permission be granted for 
planning reference P/18/0107/OA, which will further reduce the number of 
larger vehicles routing via Greenaway Lane to the Vero site to the east. 
 

 Greenaway Lane/Brook Lane junction visibility – Visibility at the 
Greenaway Lane/Brook Lane has been based upon measured speeds on 
Brook Lane. 85th percentile speeds of 36.7 mph requires the visibility 
splays to be demonstrated to 57m. To achieve visibility splays of 2.4m x 
57m, vegetation that is overhanging into the highway needs to be removed 
– this is a matter that is within the Highway Authority’s control, is being 
pursued and will be resolved prior to the commencement of any 
development. 

 

Page 4



Planning Committee  17 July 2019 
 

 

 Preference for access to the south, through the Land & Partners 
development – The new vehicular access onto Greenaway Lane has been 
reviewed and is considered acceptable by the Highway Authority to 
accommodate the proposed level of development. However, it is 
understood that as part of the wider master planning for the Warsash 
Cluster, Fareham Borough Council want to maintain Greenaway Lane as a 
‘green corridor’, therefore providing permanent access through the Land & 
Partners development site to the south. Provision of this link should be 
investigated further during reserved matters applications for both of the 
sites. 
 

 Further clarity regarding the impact of the additional traffic on 
Greenaway Lane and the cumulative impact of development within 
Warsash Village and local roads – Within the Transport Assessment, key 
junctions in the local area have been assessed with the full 800 dwelling 
allocation for the Warsash Cluster in the previous emerging local plan; the 
application on Greenaway Lane featured within the 800 dwelling scenario. 
The modelling work undertaken identified the following junctions to be 
operating close to or at capacity in the future years scenarios (following the 
addition of development traffic): Brook Lane/Barnes Lane, A27/Barnes 
Lane, A27/Brook Lane/Station Road roundabout. To mitigate against the 
impact of development implementation, return the junctions to within 
operational capacity. Proportional contributions  are being secured from 
each application within the cluster to fund the identified improvement 
schemes. 

 
A further third party comment has been received from ‘Save Warsash and the  
Western wards’, which includes traffic survey and photographs. This has been 
added to the website. 
 
A motion was proposed and seconded, that had members had the opportunity 
to determine this application, planning permission would have been refused for 
the following reasons: 
 
(i). the reasons set out in the officers report; 

 
(ii). that Greenaway Lane is an inappropriate access for the proposed site 

due to: 
a. the change in the character of the area that it would cause; and 
b. the width of the highway up to the junction not being suitable for 

the increased traffic that the development will create. 
And was voted on and LOST. 
(Voting: 3 in favour; 5 against) 
 
A motion was proposed and seconded that, had members had the opportunity  
to determine this application, planning permission would have been refused for 
 the reasons set out in the officer’s report only and was voted on and 

CARRIED. 
(Voting: 8 in favour; 0 against) 
 
RESOLVED that, had members had the opportunity to determine this  
Application, PLANNING PERMISSION would have been REFUSED for the  
following reasons: 

Page 5



Planning Committee  17 July 2019 
 

 

 
Reasons for Refusal 
 
The application is contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework, Core  
Strategy Policy CS4, Green Infrastructure, Biodiversity and Geological  
Conservation, Policy DSP14 Nature Conservation of Local Plan Part 2 and  
Policy DSP40 (v) and is unacceptable in that: 
 
(i). The proposal would have likely significant effects upon European 

Protected Sites in combination with other developments due to the 
adverse effects of increased waste water; 
 

(ii). There is uncertainly in respect of the impact of increased emissions 
from traffic associated with this development in combination with other 
developments upon designated European Protected Sites; 
 

(iii). The Planning Inspectorate should further be advised that had the 
impacts upon the European sites been satisfactorily mitigated and had 
planning permission been granted, the Local Planning Authority would 
have first sought a Section 106 planning obligation to secure the 
following: 

 
a) Provision and transfer of the areas of open space to Fareham Borough 

Council, including associated financial contributions for its future 
maintenance; 

b) A financial contribution towards the delivery of a play area and 
associated maintenance; 

c) A financial contribution towards the Solent Recreation Mitigation 
Partnership (SRMP); 

d) 40% of the proposed units as om-site affordable housing including the 
Local Housing Affordability cap; the type, size, mix and tenure to be 
agreed to the satisfaction of officers; 

e) Vehicular, pedestrian and cycle connectivity access to adjoining land for 
contribution towards the maintenance and associated lighting of the 
pedestrian and cycle link; 

f) A downgrade of the proposed Greenaway Lane access if an alternative 
access route to the south of the site can be secured subject to there 
being sufficient specification and capacity and agreement of the 
Highway Authority; 

g) A financial contribution towards education provision; 
h) A financial contribution towards highway impacts at the following 

junctions’ A27/Barnes Lane Barnes Lane/Brook Lane, A27/Station 
Road roundabout; 

i) A Travel Plan and related monitoring cost and bond; and 
j) A sustainable travel contribution to be used towards offsite 

improvements. 
 
(2) P/19/0344/FP - WARSASH MARITIME ACADEMY NEWTOWN ROAD 

WARSASH SO31 9ZL  
 
The Committee received the deputation referred to in Minute 5 above. 
 

Page 6



Planning Committee  17 July 2019 
 

 

The Committee’s attention was drawn to the Update Report which contained 
the following information:- 
 
Officers note that there is an error in the wording and formatting of paragraph 
8.31 of the main report. That paragraph in its entirety is revised to read as 
follows: 
 
8.31 This report assesses the proposed development against the policies of 

the adopted local plan. Officers have found the proposal to comply with 
the principal policy relating to development of educational facilities 
outside of the defined urban settlement boundaries (Policy DSP10) as 
well as other local plan policies which have similar effect. 

 
The proposal would have very limited material harm which overall would 
not unacceptably affect the character or appearance of the countryside, 
would have no unacceptable implications in terms of flood risk or surface 
water drainage, makes adequate parking provision and does not result in 
significant loss of trees. Protected species, their habitat and adjacent 
designated sites would not be adversely affected and the amenity of 
neighbours nor materially harmed. The scheme achieves BREEAM ‘very 
good’ standard instead of ‘excellent’ but this is considered acceptable 
given the justification provided by the applicant. 

 
The applicant has submitted revised drawings to satisfy point c) of the Officer 
recommendation and has asked that Members delegate to Officers the ability 
to make minor revisions to the suggested conditions in the report. 
 
The Office recommendation at paragraph 9.1 of the main report is revised 
accordingly to read as follows: 

 
9.1     GRANT PLANNING PERMISSION subject to: 

 
a) Further consultation response from the Environment Agency raising 

no objection to revised proposal and the imposition of any additional 
planning conditions Officers consider necessary in light of that 
response; 
 

b) Further consultation response from Hampshire County council flood 
and water management team raising no objection to the revised 
proposal and the imposition of any additional planning conditions 
Officers consider necessary in light of that response; 
 

c) Delegate to the Head of Development Management to make any 
minor modifications to the proposed conditions arising out of 
detailed negotiations with the applicant; 
 

d) The proposed conditions listed a paragraph 9.1 of the main report 
and the following additional condition: 

a) PP-07299370_Plan 10077316-DEA-ST-ZZ-DR-A-3601 
East and North Planning Elevations – Warsash Maritime 
Academy 

Page 7



Planning Committee  17 July 2019 
 

 

b) PP-07299370_Plan 10077315-DEA-ST-ZZ-DR-A-3611 
South and West Planning Elevations – Warsash Maritime 
Academy 

c) Site Elevations –  East – 10077315-DEA-SW-DR-A-3510 
Rev P04 – received 11th July 2019 

d) Site Elevations - North – 10077315-DEA-SW-XX-DR-A-
3500 Rev P04 – received 11th July 2019 

e) Site Elevations – South – 10077315-DEA-SW-XX-DR-A-
3520 Rev P04 – received 11th July 2019 

f) Site Elevations – West – 10077315-DEA-SW-XX-DR-A-
3520 Rev P04 – received 11th July 2019 

g) PP-07299370_Plan 10077315-DEA-ST-00-DR-A-1251 
Ground Floor GA Planning Plan – Warsash Maritime 
Academy 

h) PP-07299370_Plan 10077315-DEA-ST-01-DR-A-2152 
First Floor GA Planning Plan – Warsash Maritime 
Academy 

i) PP-07299370_Plan 10077315-DEA-ST-01-DR-2153 First 
Floor GA Planning Plan – Warsash Maritime Academy 

j) PP-07299370_Plan 10077315-DEA-ST-02-DR-A-2154 
Roof GA Planning Plan – Warsash Maritime Academy 

k) PP-07299370_Plan 10077315-DEA-ST-02-DR-A-2155 
Roof GA Planning Plan – Warsash Maritime Academy 

l) PP-07299370_Plan – 10077315-S1 DEA-ST-DR-A-2150 
Ground Floor GA Planning Plan – Warsash Maritime 
Academy 

m) Site Plan – Proposed – 10077315-DEA-SW-XX-DR-A-
1501 REV P03 – received 11th July 2019 

n) PP-07299370_Location Plan – Planning Application – 
Warsash Maritime Academy Warsash 

o) PP-07299370_ECOLOGY – Bat Survey and Great 
Crested Newt eDNA Report – Warsash Maritime 
Academy Warsash 

p) PP-07299370-ECOLOGY – Biodiversity Mitigation and 
Enhancements – Warsash Maritime Academy 

q) PP-07299370_ECOLOGY – Great Crested Newt Survey 
Justification Statement – Warsash Maritime Academy 

r) PP-07299370_ECOLOGY – Invasion Non-Native Species 
Site Assessment and Management Plan – Warsash 
Maritime Academy 

s) PP-07299370_ECOLOGY – Landscape and Ecology 
Management Plan – Warsash Maritime Academy 

t) PP-07299370_ECOLOGY – Preliminary Ecology 
Appraisal – Warsash Maritime Academy 

u) PP-07299370_ECOLOGY – Reptile Mitigation Strategy – 
Warsash Maritime Academy 

v) ECOLOGY – Supplementary Ecological Information – 
EcoSupport – Warsash Maritime Academy 

w) PP-07299370_Tree Plan for Council – Lower Site 12277 – 
BT6 – Warsash Maritime Academy Warsash 

x) Arboricultural Impact Assessment incl Tree Protection 
Plan – Warsash Maritime Academy 

Page 8



Planning Committee  17 July 2019 
 

 

y) Manual for Managing Trees on Development Sites – 
Warsash Maritime Academy 

z) Tree Survey – Warsash Maritime Academy 
 
REASON: To avoid any doubt over what has been permitted. 
 
Upon being proposed and seconded the officer recommendation to grant 
planning permission subject to the conditions in the report, and update report 
was voted on and CARRIED. 
(Voting: 9 in favour; 0 against) 
 
RESOLVED that, subject to the conditions in the report and update report, 
PLANNING PERMISSION be granted. 
 
(3) P/19/0316/FP - THE TITHE BARN MILL LANE TITCHFIELD 

FAREHAM PO15 5RB  
 
The Committee received the deputation referred to in Minute 5 above. 
 
Upon being proposed and seconded the officer recommendation to refuse 
planning permission, was voted on and CARRIED. 
(Voting: 9 in favour; 0 against) 
 
RESOLVED that PLANNING PERMISSION be REFUSED 
 
Reasons for Refusal 
 

1). The tarmac surfacing material is considered inappropriate for this 
informal rustic rural setting, failing to preserve and substantially harming 
the historic significance of the setting of the Grade I Listed Barn and the 
Titchfield Abbey Conservation Area contrary to Policy CS17 of the Core 
Strategy and Policy DSP5 of the Local Plan Part 2. 
 

2). The decision is made in accordance with the following plans: 
 

Site location plan – F/362/ID/001 
Block plan – F/362/ID/002 

 
Following the decision to refuse planning permission, Members requested that 
officers commence formal enforcement action as soon as possible. 
 
(4) Planning Appeals  
 
The Committee noted the information in the report. 
 
(5) UPDATE REPORT  
 
The Update Report was tabled at the meeting and considered with the 
relevant agenda item. 
 

(The meeting started at 2.30 pm 
and ended at 4.50 pm). 

 

Page 9



Planning Committee  17 July 2019 
 

 

 

Page 10



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Date:   21 August 2019 

Report of: Director of Planning and Regeneration 

Subject: PLANNING APPLICATIONS AND MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS 

SUMMARY 

This report recommends action on various planning applications. 

RECOMMENDATION 

The recommendations are detailed individually at the end of the report on each 

planning application. 

AGENDA 

The meeting will take place at the Civic Offices, Civic Way, Fareham, PO16 7AZ.  All 

items will be heard from 2.30pm. 

 

  

 

 

Report to 

Planning Committee 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REFERENCE    SITE ADDRESS & PROPOSAL   ITEM NUMBER &  

NUMBER &         RECOMMENDATION 

WARD 

 

P/19/0510/FP 

TITCHFIELD 

 

71-73 ST MARGARETS LANE FAREHAM PO14 4BG 

REAR, SIDE & ROOF EXTENSIONS, CHANGE OF USE 

OF STORAGE AREA TO 567 SEATED THEATRE AND 

INDUSTRIAL UNIT TO ANCILLARY BACK STAGE & 

CHANGING ROOMS 

 

1 

REFUSE 

 

 

ZONE 1 – WESTERN WARDS 

Park Gate 

Titchfield 

Sarisbury 

Locks Heath 

Warsash 

Titchfield Common 

Page 12

Agenda Annex



 

 

OFFICER REPORT FOR COMMITTEE  

DATE: 21/08/2019  

  

P/19/0510/FP TITCHFIELD 

TITCHFIELD FESTIVAL THEATRE AGENT: SOUTHERN PLANNING 

PRACTICE 

 

REAR, SIDE & ROOF EXTENSIONS, CHANGE OF USE OF STORAGE AREA TO 

567 SEATED THEATRE AND INDUSTRIAL UNIT TO ANCILLARY BACK STAGE & 

CHANGING ROOMS 

 

71-73 ST MARGARETS LANE, FAREHAM, PO14 4BG    

 

Report By 

Kim Hayler – direct dial 01329 824815 

 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 This application is reported to the Planning Committee due to the number of 

representations received. 

 

2.0 Site Description 

2.1 The site lies on the north eastern side of St Margarets Lane outside of the 

urban settlement boundary within the Meon Valley Strategic Gap. 

 

2.2 St Margaret’s Lane is a semi-rural Lane with a mix of residential, commercial 

and agricultural uses in the vicinity.   

 

2.3 The building was historically a former factory.  The factory space was 

subdivided, including external alterations to provide an auditorium, rehearsal 

rooms, offices and ancillary theatrical functions.   

 

2.4 At present the building comprises two theatres, one accommodating 200 

seats and the other 100 seats.  The rear part of the building is used for 

warehousing and offices. 

 

2.5 The submitted plans show 28 off street parking spaces to the south of the 

building. 

 

3.0 Description of Proposal 

3.1 The proposal involves a number of elements: 

 

3.2 A new entrance on the northern side of the building to serve the new theatre.  

The existing entrance from St Margarets Lane will serve the two existing 

theatres; 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6(1)



 

 

 

3.3 Provision of a 567 seat theatre within the rear storage area and increase the 

height of the building; 

 

3.4 Extend the building to the rear to link to the warehouse unit.  The link would 

enable the warehouse to be used as a back stage and build area together 

with changing rooms.  It would also house community based groups; 

 

3.5 External cladding to match the new oak frontage with a modern style and 

photovoltaics to the roof; 

 

3.6 There are 28 existing parking spaces on the site and the applicant has an 

agreement with the local Holiday Inn and the local garden centres.  There are 

also spaces available at the Great Barn in Mill Lane and the applicant has 

purchased a 16 seat electric mini bus, with the potential to acquire a further 

three to be used to provide a shuttle to drop and pick patrons up. 

 

4.0 Policies 

4.1 The following policies apply to this application: 

 

Adopted Fareham Borough Core Strategy 

 CS5 Transport Strategy and Infrastructure 

CS6 The Development Strategy 

CS11 Development in Portchester, Stubbington & Hill Head and Titchfield 

CS14 Development Outside Settlements 

CS15 Sustainable Development and Climate Change 

CS17 High Quality Design 

CS22 Development in Strategic Gaps 

 

Adopted Development Sites and Policies  

 DSP1 Sustainable development 

DSP2 Environmental Impact  

DSP3 Impact on Living Conditions 

DSP6 The Development Strategy 

DSP8 New Leisure and Recreation Development Outside of the Defined 

Urban Settlement Boundaries 

  

Other Documents: 

Fareham Borough Non-Residential Parking Standards Supplementary 

Planning Document  

 

5.0 Relevant Planning History 

5.1 The following planning history is relevant: 

 

Page 14



 

 

P/17/1024/FP Mansard roof and alterations to front elevation 

APPROVE 26 September 2017 

 

P/12/0050/CU Retrospective application for continued use of unit A 

for D2 and theatre purposes and unit B for storage use 

Temporary 

permission  

Appeal lodged against temporary permission – 

allowed with restrictive conditions 20 February 2013 

 

 

6.0 Representations 

  

6.1 Fourteen objections have been received.  These objections are predominantly 

from residents nearby to the site and raise the following concerns: 

 

 What arrangements are being made for the increase in parking demand? 

 The theatre already struggles for its attendees to park on theatre nights; 

 The lane is frequently turned into a single-track lane; 

 Attendees park on the only stretch of pavement and block entrances to 

fields and houses; 

 This is not a suitable location for such a large theatre; 

 Residents are able to hear music coming from the existing theatre and 

people leaving during evenings; 

 The theatre does not have the capability or even the willingness to 

manage the existing theatre; 

 A development of this type should be supported by either a large car park 

or where public transport is provided; 

 The design of the building and its height is imposing and ugly and out of 

place; 

 Over-development of the site; 

 Where will people wait for mini busses – potential noise and disturbance 

issues; 

 Mini buses are unrealistic; 

 The nursery closes its gate at 5 pm so how will their car park be used? 

 Are The Holiday Inn realistically giving up, up to 130 spaces? 

 The existing car park is not managed; 

 No provision has been made in the submitted parking calculations for cast 

members, administration, front of house and production staff; 

 There are not 50 spaces on the site as stated; 

 If cars park at the Barn in Mill Lane, you would need 32 mini bus trips (four 

x sixteen seat mini buses as proposed) with the service commencing at 

6.30 pm – this is not realistic; 

 Whilst the plans are a good idea, the infrastructure is a problem; the car 

parking situation is not satisfactory as it is; 

Page 15



 

 

 Is there a need for such a large facility?  The existing Oak Theatre is rarely 

full; patrons want to park close to the facility, the lane will be gridlocked; 

The Holiday Inn does not guarantee spaces; 

 We feel sorry for the local residents. 

 

6.2 The Fareham Society commented as follows: 

 

 The present Theatre is already large for such a small site; 

 The site is not sustainable, lacks good pedestrian access and most 

patrons are car-borne; 

 The current parking situation is far from satisfactory; to increase the size of 

the Theatre would only exacerbate existing highway and traffic problems; 

 Proposals to cater for future parking do not seem guaranteed or backed by 

legal agreements, nor are they well located for the safety and convenience 

of patrons; 

 It is acknowledged that the Theatre has a loyal following and makes a 

good contribution to the art and entertainments scene in the Borough, 

however it should conform to the local planning and highway requirements 

as would any other enterprise or business. 

 

6.3 One comment has been received stating the theatre is a good facility, 

however parking is a problem and the use of mini buses would add to the 

running cost of the theatre and is inconvenient for theatre goers. 

 

6.4 Twenty seven representations have been received supporting the proposal. 

 

7.0 Consultations 

 EXTERNAL 

 

7.1 Highways (Hampshire County Council) 

 

7.2 The submitted information indicates that the previous planning permission 

provided a parking quantum less than the existing standards.  It is noted that 

local residents have raised issues of indiscriminate parking on St Margarets 

Lane as a result of the site operation which would be exacerbated by an 

increase in scale and intensity. 

 

7.3 The applicant states the Holiday Inn can provide up to 130 spaces.  However, 

a significant proportion of these spaces will be occupied during evening/night 

hours, which would coincide with the activity of the proposed site.  The 

assumption that there are 130 available spaces is therefore not realistic. 

 

Page 16



 

 

7.4 Other locations have been indicated as having available parking, but no 

details of these sites or guarantees of quantum have been submitted. 

 

7.5 The site will likely generate an increase in traffic due to the additional seating, 

and as the site is not in a sustainable location, mitigation would be required to 

offset this impact on the local highway network. 

 

7.6 Having regards to the above, the applicant has not satisfactorily demonstrated 

that the proposed development will not have a negative impact on the local 

road network. There are acknowledged parking issues related to the site 

which restrict the use of St Margarets Lane and the associated footpaths, to 

the detriment of safety of highway users and pedestrians. The applicant 

should provide a more realistic assessment of available parking spaces (via 

appropriate parking surveys), provide more information of offsite parking 

(including the minimum available spaces at any given time) and a strategy to 

prevent on street parking on St Margarets Lane during theatre productions. 

 

7.7 Until the above has been submitted, the Highway Authority would object to the 

proposals on grounds of insufficient parking resulting in a detriment of safety 

to other highway users. 

 

7.8 INTERNAL 

 

7.9 Noise (Environmental Health) 

 

7.10 The acoustic report focuses on the impact of noise from theatre productions 

inside the new theatre only.  Whilst noise generated from theatre productions 

is a concern another issue that the report does not adequately address is 

noise from patrons when leaving the venue.  The increase in theatre capacity 

will result in significant increase in noise from patrons.  The applicant should 

submit an acoustic assessment that adequately addresses this 

area.  Specifically the acoustic assessment should take into account: 

 

 I understand that the theatre intend to hold patrons inside the lobby when 

waiting for shuttle buses.  On summer evenings unless the lobby is air 

conditioned the management of the theatre may have to open doors and 

windows to provide ventilation which will result in noise leaking from the 

building envelope.  There will also be noise leakage when patrons open 

the door to exit the building; 

  

 The closest noise sensitive receptor to be impacted by noise from patrons 

would appear to be Heisei Acre, PO14 4BL; 

 

Page 17



 

 

 The impact of noise from the shuttle buses should also be included in the 

assessment. 

 

7.11 Regarding noise from performances at the new theatre two important points 

that are stated in the assessment are that  no amplified music will be played 

and that shows will run no later than 22:30hours.  The management of the 

theatre should ensure that the ongoing operation of the theatre reflects these 

statements. 

 

7.12 The acoustic reports states that the building façade (walls and roof) will 

achieve a noise reduction levels of 50 dBA, however the exact details of the 

acoustic mitigation for the building envelope have not been submitted.  The 

applicant should submit exact details of the proposed acoustic insulation 

measures with a statement confirming how a noise reduction of 50 dBA will be 

is achieved. 

 

8.0 Planning Considerations 

8.1 The following matters represent the key material planning considerations 

which would need to be assessed to determine the suitability of the 

development proposal.  The key issues comprise: 

 

a) Relevant planning history; 

b) Principle of development; 

c) Character and appearance of the area; 

d) Impact on neighbouring properties; 

e) Highways; 

f) Conclusion. 

 

a) Relevant planning history 

 

8.2 Temporary planning permission was granted for one year in May 2012 for the 

change of use of unit A for D2 theatre purposes (210 seats).  The applicant 

lodged an appeal against the temporary permission which was subsequently 

allowed.  The 210 seats generated a need for 42 parking spaces; the site was 

able to accommodate 30 cars.  The Inspector considered with parking 

management in place this shortfall could be accommodated at alternative 

premises where the applicant had made arrangements or in other parts of the 

village. 

 

8.3 The Inspector also considered the impact on the living conditions of occupiers 

of neighbouring properties.  He considered any disturbance would be 

mitigated by the limited number of cars accommodated and by the restricted 

opening hours and performance days.  

 

Page 18



 

 

 

8.4 The Inspector allowed the appeal with a number of restrictive conditions: 

 

 Parking Management Plan 

 Ensure identified overflow parking is available; 

 Use restricted to Titchfield Festival Theatre; 

 Unit A hours of operation 0900 – 2300 Monday to Saturday, 1000 – 2200 

Sundays and Bank Holidays on a total of 140 days/nights per annum, 

sound proofing/attenuation; 

 Unit B hours or operation 0800 – 1800 Monday to Friday and 0900 – 1300 

hours Saturday and not at all on Sundays and bank holidays. 

 

b) Principle of development 

 

8.5 At the heart of government planning policy is the ‘presumption in favour of 

sustainable development.’  The site lies outside of the urban settlement 

boundary, accessed via a rural lane, with difficult accessibility and is located  

some distance from public transport services.  In light of this, the site is not 

considered to be sustainably located in planning terms and does not comply 

with Policy CS15 of the Adopted Core Strategy. 

 

8.6 The proposal would result in the loss of approximately 600 square metres of 

commercial floorspace.  The site is not designated as an employment area 

that should be protected and therefore the loss of the commercial floorspace 

would not conflict with Local Plan Policies. 

 

8.7 The proposed theatre is considered to be a main Town Centre use and should 

be located within the Town Centre or District Centres. 

 

8.8 Policy DSP8 of the Local Plan Part 2 states: 

 

‘Proposals for leisure and recreation development outside of the defined 

urban settlement boundaries will be permitted, where they do not have an 

unacceptable adverse impact on the strategic and/or local road network and; 

for main town centre uses: 

 

I. They meet the requirements of a sequential test; and 

II. Subject to their scale, they meet the requirement of an impact 

assessment. 

 

Proposals should have particular regard to the requirements of the Core 

Strategy Policy CS14: Development Outside Settlements, and Core Strategy 

Policy CS6: The Development Strategy.  They should avoid the loss of 

Page 19



 

 

significant trees, should not have an unacceptable impact on the amenity of 

residents, and should not result in unacceptable environmental or ecological 

impacts or detrimental impact on the character or landscape of the 

surrounding area.’ 

 

8.9 Sequential test and impact assessment 

 

Paragraphs 86 – 90 of the NPPF states: 

 

‘Local Planning Authorities should apply a sequential test to planning 

applications for main town centre use which are neither in an existing centre 

nor in accordance with an up-to-date plan.  Main town centre uses should be 

located in town centres, then in edge of centre locations; and only if suitable 

sites are not available (or expected to become available within a reasonable 

period) should out of centre sites be considered. 

 

When considering edge of centre and out of centre proposals, preference 

should be given to accessible sites which are well connected to the town 

centre.  Applicants and local planning authorities should demonstrate flexibility 

on issues such as format and scale, so that opportunities to utilise suitable 

town centre or edge of centre sites are fully explored. 

 

When assessing applications for retail and leisure development outside town 

centres, which are not in accordance with an up-to-date plan, local planning 

authorities should require an impact assessment if the development is over a 

proportionate, locally set floorspace threshold.  The impact assessment 

should include as assessment of: 

 

I. The impact of the proposal on existing, committed and planned public and 

private investment in a centre or centres in the catchment area of the 

proposal; and  

 

II. The impact of the proposal on town centre vitality and viability, including 

local consumer choice and trade in the town centre and the wider retail 

catchment (as applicable to the scale and nature of the scheme). 

 

Where an application fails to satisfy the sequential test or is likely to have 

significant adverse impact on one or more of the considerations, it should be 

refused’. 

 

8.10 The applicant has submitted a sequential test, considering whether there are 

any suitable sites in an established centre or edge of centre location that are 

available now and can meet the same market and locational requirements to 

provide the space needed for the scheme proposed.  The applicant has 

Page 20



 

 

concluded there are only two main theatres, The Ashcroft and Ferneham Hall, 

the latter to close for refurbishment and there are no theatres to the west of 

the Borough, the nearest being in Hedge End, Berry Theatre. 

 

8.11 The applicant has highlighted there are numerous new houses proposed 

within the Western Wards and Whiteley.  There are no late night buses from 

the western wards or Whiteley to Fareham centre to enable usage of The 

Ashcroft and Ferneham Hall .  In light of this they say there is a need for a 

theatre venue in the proposal area. 

 

8.12 The sequential test identified there are no suitable, available or viable 

alternative sites that could be considered sequentially preferable to the 

proposed development and as two theatres already existing on the site it 

would not make commercial sense to split the theatres across two sites.   

 

8.13 The Council’s locally set threshold for an impact assessment is 500 metres 

square.  No impact assessment has been submitted with the application. 

 

8.14 Notwithstanding the conclusion of the applicant’s sequential test, the proposal 

conflicts with Policy DSP8 of the Local Plan Part 2 in that due to its 

unsustainable location it would have an unacceptable adverse impact on the 

local road network (set out in detail below) and in the absence of an impact 

assessment it has not been demonstrated that the proposal would not 

adversely impact upon similar existing, committed and planned leisure 

facilities in the Town Centre.  

 

8.15 Furthermore, it is considered the development would have an unacceptable 

impact on the amenity of residents and a detrimental impact on the character 

and landscape of the surrounding area.  These matters are discussed in detail 

below. 

 

c) Character and appearance of the area 

 

8.16 Policy CS14 of the Core Strategy states that development on land outside the 

defined settlements will be strictly controlled to protect the countryside and 

coastline from development which would adversely affect its landscape 

character, appearance and function.   

 

8.17 Policy CS17 states that all development should respond positively to and be 

respectful of the key characteristics of the area, including landscape, scale, 

form, spaciousness and use of external materials. 

 

Page 21



 

 

8.18 Policy CS22 states that development proposal will not be permitted either 

individually or cumulatively where it significantly affects the integrity of the gap 

and the physical and visual separation of settlements. 

 

8.19 The application involves the conversion of an existing commercial building 

sited in the countryside and Meon Valley Strategic Gap, however the proposal 

does involve a number of extensions and alterations to the building which 

have to be considered in relation to the above policies. 

 

8.20 The existing building on the St Margaret’s Lane frontage is two storey with 

accommodation within the roof space.  This building measures 8.6 metres 

high and is relatively narrow.  The building attached to the rear extends east 

with a shallow pitched roof measuring 6.5 metre high.  Beyond this building is 

a detached commercial building with a pitched and flat roof, its maximum 

height measuring 6.8 metres.  Levels fall gradually from the Lane through into 

the rear of the site by approximately 3.5 metres. 

 

8.21 The proposed extensions include connecting the current building used by the 

theatre to the detached commercial unit at the rear.  A new upper floor and 

roof would add a further 4 metres in height to part of this building.  The 

rearmost commercial building would be extended, squaring the unit off and 

forming a flat roof. 

 

8.22 A lobby area is proposed to the northern side of the building set back from the 

front elevation by 24 metres. 

 

8.23 The external elevations would be clad, incorporating vertical posts and infill 

panels, together with glazed panels. 

 

8.24 The extended building would be visually prominent when viewed from St 

Margaret’s Lane and from the A27 to the north east.  Part of the extended 

building would measure some 11 metres high, 24.5 metres long and 34 

metres wide.  The scale and mass of the resultant building would adversely 

affect the landscape character and appearance of this countryside location.  

The proposal would significantly affect the integrity of the strategic gap and 

the proposed design and external materials do not respond to the immediate 

area, detrimental to the landscape character and visual amenities of the area. 

 

8.25 Officers consider the proposal conflicts with Policy CS14, CS17 and CS22 of 

the Local Plan Part 2. 

 

d) Impact on neighbouring properties 

 

8.26 Policy DSP2 of the Local Plan Part 2 states: 

Page 22



 

 

 

‘Development proposals should not, individually, or cumulatively, have a 

significant adverse impact, either on neighbouring development, adjoining 

land, or the wider environment, by reason of noise, heat, liquids, vibration, 

light or air pollution.’ 

 

8.27 There are dwellings in the vicinity of the site, the nearest of which are 

diagonally opposite.  In this location, it is likely that the departure of patrons at 

the end of the performance would create some disturbance, particularly if they 

are waiting for transport.  The comments received from a number of residents 

highlight issues relating to noise and disturbance late at night from the 

existing facility.  The proposal involves a much larger facility with a larger 

number of patrons. 

 

8.28 A lobby area is proposed on the northern side of the building; it is intended to 

use this as a holding area while patrons wait for transport.  The applicant is 

proposing to purchase a number of electric mini buses which would pick up 

and drop off outside of the building.   It is understood performances will run up 

to 22.30 hours, leading to patrons leaving after this time, and in practice a 

large number would be waiting for transport.   In practical terms, preventing 

noise and disturbance would be difficult to manage with the potential to result 

in noise and disturbance to neighbouring occupiers of neighbouring 

properties.   

 

8.29 When the Planning Inspector considered the previous appeal (P/12/0050/CU) 

which was for a much smaller theatre (210 seats), he concluded any 

disturbance from patrons coming and going from the theatre would be 

mitigated by the limited number of cars accommodated and by the restricted 

opening hours and performance days.  

 

8.30 This proposal would result in a much larger facility with unrestricted 

performance days and the applicant has confirmed the facility would be let out 

to third parties, not restricted to just TFT.   

 

8.31 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has also raised concerns relating 

to noise from within the proposed theatre.  Notwithstanding the fact that the 

applicant has stated there will be no amplified music and shows will run no 

later than 22:30hour, the acoustic report submitted with the application has 

not provided details of the proposed acoustic insulation measures for the 

building. 

 

8.32 The proposal conflicts with Policy DSP2 of the Local Plan Part 2 and is 

unacceptable in that the increase in theatre capacity will result in significant 

increase in noise from patrons arriving and leaving the building detrimental to 

Page 23



 

 

the living conditions of the occupiers of the neighbouring residential 

properties.  Furthermore, in the absence of details of acoustic insulation 

measures for the building officers consider noise emanating from the building 

will materially harm the living conditions of the neighbouring residential 

properties. 

 

 

e) Highways 

 

8.33 Policy CS5 of the Council’s Core Strategy requires that new development 

does not adversely affect the safety and operation of the road system and that 

appropriate parking should be provided to take account of the accessibility 

and context of the scheme. 

 

8.34 Policy CS17 states that all development should provide appropriate parking 

for intended uses taking account of the accessibility and context of a 

development. 

 

8.35 There are no parking controls in this part of St Margarets Lane, and the road 

is relatively narrow, with a single pavement to the north of the site, and 

elsewhere a narrow verge.  There is the potential for parked cars to obstruct 

both the road and footpath, to the detriment of highway and pedestrian safety, 

especially as there is a long bend in the vicinity of the site which restricts 

forward visibility.  Indiscriminate parking in the Lane by patrons of the existing 

theatre has been raised by a number of objectors. 

 

8.36 The application refers to Hampshire County Council Parking Standards (2002) 

however these standards were withdrawn in 2011.  The Council’s Non-

Residential Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Document would 

apply.  Essentially the guidance is based upon the HCC figures with scope for 

departures from standard figures in cases where development is sited in the 

Fareham Town Centre and other local centres.  In this case the site is in a 

semi-rural area with no direct public transport links. 

 

8.37 The parking standard is one space per five seats.  The existing facility would 

require 60 spaces; the proposal would generate a need for an additional 114 

spaces.   

 

8.38 The site can accommodate approximately 35 spaces.  The applicant states 

the TFT has an agreement with the Holiday Inn, on the other side of the A27 

St Margaret’s roundabout to provide up to 130 spaces.  However, The Holiday 

Inn General Manager and Area Manager have both confirmed to officers they 

could not offer 130 spaces as this would cause issues with hotel residents 

and visitors needing to park.  The Hotel has 130 bedrooms and 180 car 

Page 24



 

 

parking spaces in total.  The TFT currently have an arrangement with The 

Holiday Inn for patrons to park in the car park; normally only a few cars take 

up this facility when there is a show.   Access to and from this car park by 

pedestrians is not easy; having to walk along an unlit lane and crossing two 

arms of the busy A27 dual carriageway. 

 

8.39 The applicant also states TFT have an arrangement to use the St Margarets 

Nursery car park opposite the site which can accommodate 35 cars.  Officers 

have spoken with the nursery and this facility is being considered on a trial 

basis only.  At the time of writing this report there was no formal agreement in 

place. 

 

8.40 The applicant has suggested that the parking area at the Great Barn, Mill 

Lane, Titchfield could be used for parking, with electric mini buses providing a 

park and ride.  Furthermore the public car park at Barrys Meadow and Mill 

Lane Recreation Ground have both been highlighted by the applicant as 

potential parking for theatre goers. 

 

8.41 Local residents have raised concerns regarding parking on St. Margaret’s 

Lane and causing damage to the highway verge on theatre nights. Parking is 

an important issue for consideration and the application fails to provide a 

robust assessment. 

 

8.42 Whilst the submitted Transport Assessment mentions various off-site 

locations and states the available parking, there is no evidence submitted 

detailing that this is the case, nor any surveys or related evidence that the 

quoted parking is available during theatre hours or that the other providers 

would be willing to secure the provision in a legal agreement.    

 

8.43 In light of the lack of evidence submitted, including car parking plans and the 

fact that none of the off site parking falls within the planning application site, 

the proposal does not adequately address the required car parking provision. 

 

8.44 The development would be contrary to Policy CS5 and CS17 and is 

unacceptable in that the proposal would result in inadequate provision of 

accessible available parking spaces resulting in unacceptable harm to the 

safety and convenience of users of the highway. 

 

f) Conclusion 

 

8.45 The proposal relates to development in an unsustainable location and would 

have an unacceptable adverse impact on the local road network.  In the 

absence of an impact assessment it is considered the proposal would impact 

Page 25



 

 

on similar existing, committed and planned leisure facilities in the Town 

Centre.  

 

8.46 The increase in theatre capacity will result in significant increase in noise from 

patrons arriving and leaving the building detrimental to the living conditions of 

the occupiers of the neighbouring residential properties.  Furthermore, in the 

absence of details of acoustic insulation measures for the building officers 

consider noise emanating from the building will materially harm the living 

conditions of the neighbouring residential properties. 

 

8.47 The proposal would result in inadequate provision of accessible available 

parking spaces resulting in unacceptable harm to the safety and convenience 

of users of the highway. 

 

8.48 The scale and mass of the resultant building would adversely affect the 

landscape character and appearance of this countryside location.  The 

proposal would significantly affect the integrity of the Meon Valley Strategic 

Gap.  Furthermore, the proposed design and external materials do not 

respond to the immediate area, detrimental to the landscape character and 

visual amenities of the area. 

 

8.49 Having considered all relevant material planning matters including the number 

of representations in support of the proposals, Officers consider the 

development to be contrary to a number of adopted local plan policies and as 

a result of the harm caused Officers recommend that the application be 

refused. 

 

9.0 Recommendation 

9.1 REFUSE: 

 

9.2 The development is contrary to Policies CS5, CS14, CS15, CS17 and Cs22 of 

the Adopted Core Strategy and Policies DSP1, DSP2 and DSP8 of the 

adopted Fareham Borough Local Plan Part 2: Development Sites and Polices 

and is unacceptable in that: 

 

i. The proposal relates to development in an unsustainable location and 

would have an unacceptable adverse impact on the local road network;   

 

ii. The increase in theatre capacity will result in significant increase in noise 

from patrons arriving and leaving the building detrimental to the living 

conditions of the occupiers of the neighbouring residential properties.  

Furthermore, in the absence of details of acoustic insulation measures for 

the building officers consider noise emanating from the building will 

Page 26



 

 

materially harm the living conditions of the neighbouring residential 

properties; 

 

iii. The proposal would result in inadequate provision of accessible available 

parking spaces resulting in unacceptable harm to the safety and 

convenience of users of the highway; 

 

iv. The scale and mass of the resultant building would adversely affect the 

landscape character and appearance of this countryside location.  The 

proposal would significantly affect the integrity of the Meon Valley 

Strategic Gap.  Furthermore, the proposed design and external materials 

do not respond to the immediate area, detrimental to the landscape 

character and visual amenities of the area; 

 

v. Had it not been for the overriding reasons for refusal, an impact 

assessment would have been required to demonstrate that the proposal 

would not have an adverse impact on existing, committed and planned 

leisure facilities in the Town Centre and other local and district centres. 

 

9.3 The decision relates to the following drawings/documents: 

 

Existing site plan – 01 

Existing ground floor – 02 

Existing first floor – 03 

Existing second floor – 04 

Existing elevations – 05 

Proposed site plan – 06 

Proposed ground floor plan – 07 rev A 

Proposed first floor plan – 08 rev A 

Proposed second floor plan – 09 rev A 

Proposed roof plan – 10 rev A 

Proposed elevations – 11 rev A 

Proposed sections – 12 rev A 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



 

 

 

Page 28



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REFERENCE    SITE ADDRESS & PROPOSAL   ITEM NUMBER &  

NUMBER &         RECOMMENDATION 

WARD 

No items in this Zone 

 

 

ZONE 2 – FAREHAM 

Fareham North-West 

Fareham West 

Fareham North 

Fareham East 

Fareham South 

Page 29

Agenda Annex



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

REFERENCE    SITE ADDRESS & PROPOSAL   ITEM NUMBER &  

NUMBER &         RECOMMENDATION 

WARD 

  

 

P/19/0301/FP 

STUBBINGTON 

 

LAND EAST OF CROFTON CEMETERY AND WEST 

OF PEAK LANE FAREHAM 

DEVELOPMENT COMPRISING 261 DWELLINGS, 

ACCESS ROAD FROM PEAK LANE MAINTAINING 

LINK TO OAKCROFT LANE, STOPPING UP OF A 

SECTION OF OAKCROFT LANE (FROM OLD PEAK 

LANE TO ACCESS ROAD), WITH CAR PARKING, 

LANDSCAPING, PUBLIC OPEN SPACE AND 

ASSOCIATED WORKS 

 

2 

REFUSE 

 

 

ZONE 3 – EASTERN WARDS 

Portchester West 

Hill Head 

Stubbington 

Portchester East 

Page 30

Agenda Annex



 

 

OFFICER REPORT FOR COMMITTEE  

DATE: 21/08/2019  

  

P/19/0301/FP STUBBINGTON / TITCHFIELD 

PERSIMMON HOMES LTD AGENT: PERSIMMON HOMES LTD 

 

DEVELOPMENT COMPRISING 261 DWELLINGS, ACCESS ROAD FROM PEAK 

LANE MAINTAINING LINK TO OAKCROFT LANE, STOPPING UP OF A SECTION 

OF OAKCROFT LANE (FROM OLD PEAK LANE TO ACCESS ROAD), WITH CAR 

PARKING, LANDSCAPING, PUBLIC OPEN SPACE AND ASSOCIATED WORKS 

 

LAND EAST OF CROFTON CEMETERY AND WEST OF PEAK LANE, FAREHAM 

 

Report By 

Peter Kneen – direct dial 01239 824363 

 

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 The application has received over 150 letters of objection from the local 

community. 

 

1.2 Members will note from the ‘Five Year Housing Land Supply Position’ report 

considered at the April 2019 Planning Committee that this Council currently 

has a housing land supply of 4.66 years. 

 

1.3 To meet the Council’s duty as the competent authority under the Conservation 

of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (“the habitats regulations”), a 

Habitats Regulations Assessment is required to consider the likely significant 

effects of the development on the protected sites around the Solent.  As the 

proposals are not being supported by Officers, no Appropriate Assessment 

has been undertaken as part of the consideration of this application.  

However, the likely significant effects of the development on the protected 

sites around the Solent have been considered as part of this report. 

 

2.0 Site Description 

2.1 The application site is located at the northern end of the village of 

Stubbington, and currently forms two arable pieces of farmland divided by 

Oakcroft Lane that runs east – west between the two parcels of land. 

 

2.2 The southern parcel of land is bounded by residential development to the 

east, with a line of trees providing an existing buffer between the site and the 

residential properties to the east.  The trees along the eastern boundary are 

largely protected by individual and group Tree Preservation Orders (including 

FTPO108).  The southern boundary comprises additional residential 

development (Marks Tey Road), with an area of woodland and a public right 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6(2)



 

 

of way forming a break between these two areas.  A line of trees along the 

southern boundary of the site are protected by a group Tree Preservation 

Order (FTPO80).  The western boundary comprises Crofton Cemetery which 

is separated from the site by a mature hedgerow.  The northern part of the 

western boundary forms part of Oakcroft Lane, dividing by a drainage ditch 

and a mature line of poplar trees.  The northern boundary comprises Oakcroft 

Lane where the mature line of poplar trees continues along the line of the 

road. 

 

2.3 The northern parcel of land is bounded by Oakcroft Lane to the south, and 

Peak Lane to the east.  To the north of this piece of land the open arable field 

continues although this will be dissected by the Stubbington By-pass for which 

the preliminary construction works have commenced.  To the west of the site 

lies the ecological enhancement area owned by Hampshire County Council, 

created as mitigation for the Stubbington by-pass route.   

 

2.4 The two parcels of land are predominantly flat, with Oakcroft Lane set at a 

slightly lower level than the site to the south, and the northern parcel of land 

comprises a drainage ditch, watercourse that broadly runs along the northern 

side of Oakcroft Lane, and contributes towards connecting the new habitat 

mitigation area to the west of the site to waterbodies to the east of 

Stubbington. 

 

2.5 Stubbington Village is a sustainable settlement comprising a wide range of 

services and facilities including a well-established village centre, primary and 

secondary schools, and employment opportunities.  The village is well 

provided for in terms of public transport, with regular buses connecting the 

village to Gosport and Fareham.  The village is surrounded by undeveloped 

countryside, designated at Strategic Gap, and traffic congestion through the 

village at peak times has resulted in the provision of a by-pass, which has 

been recently granted consent from Government, is anticipated to be 

completed in the next few years. 

 

2.6 Works have now commenced on the construction of the Stubbington By-pass, 

following the Government’s approval of the scheme in May 2019, with the 

archaeological investigations taking place on the land either side of Peak 

Lane.  The Stubbington By-pass would form a northern perimeter of the site 

and would be situated adjacent to the proposed area of open space. 

 

3.0 Description of Proposal 

3.1 The application proposal, which is submitted in full detail comprises 261 

dwellings, to be constructed on the southern part of the site, south of Oakcroft 

Lane, comprising a mix of 9 x 1 bedroom flats, 114 x 2 bedroom flats and 

houses, 106 x 3 bedroom houses and 32 x 4 bedroom houses.  Public open 

Page 32



 

 

space will be created within the site with a local equipped area of play (LEAP) 

created to the southern part of the site adjacent to the proposed attenuation 

pond, and a neighbourhood equipped area of play (NEAP) created at the 

northern end of the site, adjacent to the proposed new access road.  The new 

access road which would be located approximately 175 metres to the north of 

the existing access from Peak Lane onto Oakcroft Lane.  The initial 120 

metres section of Oakcroft Lane will be converted into a no through road, with 

the access to the remainder of Oakcroft Lane being made via the proposed 

new access road. 

 

3.2 The residential development would comprise a mixture of two storey and two 

and half storey dwellings and two three storey blocks of flats. 

 

3.3 The land to the north of Oakcroft Lane is proposed for use as open space, 

which the applicant suggests could be transferred to the Borough Council to 

ensure its long term protection from future development.   

 

3.4 The planning application was supported by a suite of technical documents 

and plans comprising:  Planning Statement, Design and Access Statement, 

Preliminary Ecological Survey, Shadow Habitats Regulations Assessment, 

Tree Protection Plan and Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Method 

Statement, Environmental Noise Impact Assessment, Transport Assessment 

and Travel Plan, Five Year Housing Land Supply Position Statement, 

Archaeological Desk-Based Assessment, Landscape and Visual Impact 

Assessment, Soft Landscape Management and Maintenance Plan, Soft 

Landscape Specification, Flood Risk and Surface Water Drainage Strategy 

and an Air Quality Ecological Impact Assessment, together with detailed plans 

and elevations of all the proposed dwellings and other buildings, tenure plan, 

building heights plan, boundary treatment plan and vehicle tracking diagrams. 

 

4.0 Policies 

4.1 The following policies apply to this application: 

 

Adopted Fareham Borough Core Strategy 

 CS2:  Housing Provision; 

 CS4:  Green Infrastructure, Biodiversity and Geological Conservation; 

 CS5:  Transport Strategy and Infrastructure; 

 CS6:  The Development Strategy; 

CS11: Development in Portchester, Stubbington & Hill Head and 

Titchfield;  

CS14: Development Outside Settlements; 

CS15: Sustainable Development and Climate Change; 

CS17: High Quality Design; 

CS18: Provision of Affordable Housing; 

Page 33



 

 

CS20: Infrastructure and Development Contributions; 

CS21: Protection and Provision of Open Space; 

CS22: Development in Strategic Gaps. 

  

Adopted Development Sites and Policies  

 DSP1:  Sustainable Development; 

 DSP2:  Environmental Impact; 

 DSP3:  Impact on Living Conditions; 

 DSP5:  Protecting and Enhancing the Historic Environment; 

DSP6: New Residential Development Outside of the Defined Urban 

Settlement Boundaries;  

 DSP13: Nature Conservation; 

 DSP14: Supporting Sites for Brent Goose and Waders; 

DSP15: Recreational Disturbance on the Solent Special Protection 

Areas; 

DSP40: Housing Allocations. 

  

Other Documents: 

Fareham Borough Design Guidance: Supplementary Planning Document 

(excluding Welborne) December 2015 

Residential Car Parking Standards 2009 

Planning Obligations Supplementary Planning Document for the Borough of 

Fareham (excluding Welborne) April 2016 

 

5.0 Relevant Planning History 

5.1 No recent relevant planning history regarding the site. 

 

6.0 Representations 

6.1 175 letters of representation have been received in respect of the planning 

application.  Two are letters of support, with the remainder letters of objection.   

 

 Support: 

6.2 Two letters of support of which one is conditioned on the proposed 

development including shared ownership flats. 

 

 Objections: 

6.3 The objections received raise the following concerns: 

 

6.4 Principle of Development: 

 The site is within a strategic gap and therefore not acceptable in principle 

 The proposed housing would be a short-term fix to housing supply.   

 Unsustainable location 

 Undesirable precedent for further development in the strategic gap 

Page 34



 

 

 Contrary to policies CS2, CS6, CS14, CS22, DSP6 and DSP40  

 Contrary to CS22 because the impact on wildlife and current residents 

would constitute significant harm. 

 The application states that the site is allocated under the SHLAA, but it 

isn’t. 

 Development should not be allowed before the local plan consultation has 

been carried out. 

 Development in the strategic gap would go against the Inspector’s appeal 

decisions for the Grange and Old Street. 

 

6.5 Impact on Strategic Gap: 

 Coalescence of Fareham and Stubbington 

 Development in the strategic gap  

 

6.6 Impact on character of the area: 

 Impact on the character of the area 

 Inappropriate density 

 Plots 240-243 are 2.5 storeys and would not be appropriate in this 

location 

 Loss of village character 

 

6.7 Design: 

 Inappropriate design 

 Insufficient space standards would result in social, welfare and domestic 

problems. 

 Inappropriate layout and materials 

 Lack of landscaping 

 Overdevelopment 

 The SHLAA ref 1341 indicates a yield of 144 not 261 

 Concerns re quality and safety of Persimmon Homes as they have had to 

hire a judge to review their build quality procedures. 

 

6.8 Highways: 

 The traffic assumptions in the proposal are flawed in terms of volume and 

direction.  The TA does not take the narrow width (4m in places) of 

Oakcroft Lane into consideration. 

 Impact of additional traffic on Mays Lane and Titchfield Road 

 Limiting access to one point only will have an adverse impact on the flow 

of traffic 

 Additional parking on adjacent roads blocks manoeuvring for refuse 

vehicles and other large vehicles. 

Page 35



 

 

 It is not clear whether Oakcroft Lane will be closed off near the Peak Lane 

junction 

 Closing Oakcroft Lane would prevent its use when Peak Lane is blocked 

or congested and would increase congestion on Peak Lane. 

 The methods proposed to encourage people not to use their cars won’t 

work 

 Inadequate space for parking, loading and turning of vehicles 

 Impact on highways safety 

 Impact on St Mary’s road which will be used as a cut through from 

Titchfield Road to Mays Lane. 

 Inadequate visibility when existing the site 

 The Mays Lane cycle lane on the eastern side of the road is 1.1m wide 

which falls below the recommended width of 2m and the minimum width 

of 1.5m. 

 The Peak Lane shared pedestrian / cycle path is described as being a 3m 

wide lit footway / cycleway but it is narrower and not lit. 

 The proposal will not reduce the dependency on the car as required by 

policy 

 

6.9 Right of Way: 

 The proposal would block existing rights of way / footpaths. 

 

6.10 Infrastructure: 

 Impact on doctors, schools, library and other facilities that are already 

operating above capacity. 

 Impact on utilities. 

 

6.11 Flood Risk: 

 Impact on flooding. 

 Insufficient consideration of impact of the proposed development on 

surface water drainage 

 What mitigation is proposed to prevent flooding? 

 The site slopes from north to south with a fall of approximately 3m on a 

substrate of clay with a very high water table.  The site also lies within 

0.4km of the Meon Valley SSSI and SPA.  No consideration has been 

taken of the impact of pollutants from surface water onto the SSSI and 

SPA. 

 

6.12 Pollution: 

 Impact on quiet atmosphere of the cemetery 

 Impact on health due to increased air pollution 

 Concerns re odour emissions 

Page 36



 

 

 Impact of noise on future residents because of proximity to Daedalus 

airfield 

 

6.13 Impact on Cemetery: 

 Loss of privacy to cemetery 

 Impact of noise on cemetery 

 The soft landscaping proposals (sheet 5) for part of the site are missing. 

 The proposed development would prevent the cemetery from further 

expansion 

 

6.14 Ecology: 

 Impact on wildlife in the area including badgers, bats, voles and birds 

 Loss of habitat 

 The NPPF para 177 states that habitat is a material consideration that 

takes precedent. 

 Mitigation measures designed to protect wildlife aren’t always enforced 

and therefore can’t be relied on. 

 The site provides habitat for several species including Woodlark (a 

schedule 1 protected species) and a Cetti’s Warbler (which is also 

protected)  

 The development would need to secure a contribution towards the SRMP 

strategy. 

 Has the Council’s Ecologist calculated the biodiversity net gain? 

 The proposed badger corridor is inadequate 

 

6.15 Impact on trees: 

 Removal of and impact on poplar trees 

 

6.16 Impact on Neighbours: 

 Loss of light and overshadowing 

 Overlooking  

 Loss of visual amenity 

 

6.17 Impact on Heritage Assets: 

 Impact on St Edmunds Church and conservation area 

 Impact on archaeology 

 

6.18 Contributions: 

 Residents of Summerleigh Walk and The Three Ways pay to maintain 

Badger Walk to the east of the site.  The developer or future residents 

should contribute towards the maintenance costs. 

 

6.19 Concerns regarding Quality of Delivery and Quality of Development: 

Page 37



 

 

 Residents do not want a company like Persimmon to develop properties 

in Stubbington given that they were ranked as the lowest of all house 

builders in the Home Builder’s Federation annual customer satisfaction 

survey. 

 The planning statement claims that Persimmon have a track record for 

delivering large scale housing sites along the south coast, however they 

have also had action taken by Vale of Glamorgan Council for building 

homes without Planning Permission which casts doubt over any 

assurances they give. 

 How will FBC provide a guarantee of quality of work given the continued 

dissatisfaction of owners of houses previously built by Persimmon? 

 

6.20 Other issues: 

 The development does not provide 5% self-build as required by policy 

 Confirmation sought that the development will not be built before the 

bypass road has been built 

 If planning permission is granted: 

 Restrictions should be placed on hours of construction 

 The design should be amended to remove the 3 storey blocks of 

flats 

 The development should not start until after the completion of 

the Stubbington bypass. 

 The NEAP is close to a busy road which would result in it being noise 

and polluted and contrary to guidance.  The NEAP would also not be 

visible from adjacent houses or easily accessible from the road.  The 

lack of natural surveillance could result in anti-social behaviour. 

 The attenuation pond would be a safety hazard. 

 The FRA constantly refers to Gosport Borough Council. 

 Impact of hazardous materials 

 Accessibility for disabled people 

 Housing should be focussed at Welborne and in MOD land 

 Impact on animals at the Ark Rescue Centre 

 

7.0 Consultations 

 EXTERNAL 

 

 Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service 

7.1 Comments received highlighting that subject to compliance with the latest 

building regulations, they would raise no objection to the proposals. 

 

 Historic England 

7.2 Initial comments raised concerns regarding the impact of the development on 

the setting of Crofton Old Church, as Grade II* Listed building.  However, after 

Page 38



 

 

further detailed correspondence with the applicant Historic England confirmed 

that they would not wish to object on heritage grounds, but noted that the 

development would have a small impact on the setting of the church, due to 

further suburban development moved closer to the church, closing the gap to 

the northeast, and will be both partly visible and appreciable on nearby 

approach roads and paths to the church. 

 

 Natural England 

7.3 Natural England commented that further advice would be required to address 

mechanisms to secure the nutrient budget neutrality for the lifetime of the 

development, and without confirmation of this, would raise an objection.  The 

applicant also provided an Air Quality Ecological Impact Assessment for 

which Natural England commented that they would raise no concerns 

regarding the likely significant impact of the development from air quality on 

the protected sites around the Solent. 

 

7.4 Natural England has been re-consulted in light of the status of the land north 

of Oakcroft Lane being revised to a Secondary Support Area in the Solent 

Wader and Brent Goose Strategy (SWBGS).  Any advice from Natural 

England will be reported to the Planning Committee by way of a written or 

verbal update prior to the meeting. 

 

 Environment Agency 

7.5 The Environment Agency raised an objection to the proposals in the absence 

of an acceptable Flood Risk Assessment which failed to accurately assess 

and take into account the impacts of climate change on the development. 

 

 Southern Water 

7.6 No objection was raised by Southern Water who have confirmed that they can 

facilitate sewage disposal to service the development. 

 

HCC Lead Local Flood Authority 

7.7 No objection raised following a review of the submitted supporting technical 

documentation. 

 

 HCC Archaeology 

7.8 No objection, subject to conditions. 

 

 HCC Highways 

7.9 Objections raised in respect of the following key elements: 

 

 A review should be conducted on pedestrian crossing points of Mays 

Lane; 

Page 39



 

 

 An agreement must be made to ensure an adequate bus service for 

the proposed site; 

 Amendments to the site access proposals; 

 Amendments to the junction modelling; 

 Junction modelling should be conducted for A27/Peak Lane, Mays 

Lane/Titchfield Road/B3334 roundabout, and Stubbington 

Green/Stubbington Lane/Gosport Road/B3334 roundabout; 

 Further details regarding the internal layout of the site; and, 

 Amendments required to make the Travel Plan acceptable. 

 

 HCC Children’s Services 

7.10 The schools within the catchment area are full.  There is no requirement to 

expand these schools, however a financial contribution is required to improve 

infrastructure and to secure funding for school travel plans, and for investment 

in sustainable travel in order to provide adequate addition places to support 

the proposed development.  Developers’ contributions will be expected where 

it is necessary to remove limitations to the delivery of the curriculum, so that 

existing nominal capacity can be fully used to meet additional demand from a 

development.   

 

 Portsmouth Water 

7.11 No comments received 

 

 INTERNAL 

 

 Affordable Housing Officer 

7.12 Affordable housing provision for the site should equate to 104.4 dwellings 

(105 on site provision) or a 0.4 off-site financial contribution should be 

provided.  The affordable rent mix should increase the number of 3-bed 

properties by 8 additional units, in lieu of 2-bed units. 

 

 Environmental Health (noise/pollution) 

7.13 No objection, subject to conditions. 

 

 Environmental Health (contaminated land) 

7.14 No objection, subject to informative. 

 

 Trees 

7.15 Concerns have been raised regarding the proximity of the properties to the 

protected trees on the eastern boundary.  Insufficient space has been created 

which should require several of the properties of the eastern boundary to be 

removed and re-sited.  More landscaping details are required for new tree 

planting in the street scene, and their future management. 

Page 40



 

 

 

 Recycling Co-ordinator 

7.16 Details regarding tracking of refuse vehicles needed – scheme acceptable 

subject to appropriate vehicle tracking. 

 

 Ecology 

7.17 Objection – significant concerns regarding protected species, namely water 

voles, Great Crested newts, birds, badgers and bats on both the northern and 

southern parts of the site.  Further information regarding the use of the open 

space (northern part of the site) is required.  Insufficient and lack of green 

buffers have been created to the periphery of the site. 

 

8.0 Planning Considerations 

8.1 The following matters represent the key material planning considerations 

which would need to be assessed to determine the suitability of the 

development proposal.  The key issues comprise: 

 

a) Implications of Fareham’s current Five Year Housing Land Supply 

Position (5 YHLS); 

b) Residential development in the countryside; 

c) Consideration of Policy DSP40 – Housing Allocations; 

d) Other matters; 

e) The Planning balance. 

 

a) Implications of Fareham’s Current Five Year Housing Land Supply 

Position 

 

8.2 A report titled “Five year housing land supply position” was reported for 

Member’s information in the April 2019 Planning Committee.  That report set 

out this Council’s local housing need along with this Council’s current housing 

land supply position.  The report concluded that this Council has 4.66 years of 

housing supply against the new 5YHLS 

 

8.3 The starting point for the determination of this planning application is Section 

38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004: 

 

“If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 

determination to be made under the Planning Acts the determination must be 

made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 

otherwise”. 

 

8.4 In determining planning applications there is a presumption in favour of 

policies of the extant Development Plan, unless material considerations 

Page 41



 

 

indicated otherwise.  Material considerations include the planning policies set 

out in the NPPF. 

 

8.5 Paragraph 59 of the NPPF seeks to significantly boost the supply of housing. 

 

8.6 Paragraph 73 of the NPPF states that Local Planning Authorities should 

identify a supply of specific deliverable sites sufficient to provide a minimum of 

five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirement including a 

buffer.  Where a Local Planning Authority cannot do so, and when faced with 

applications involving the provision of housing, the policies of the local plan 

which are most important for determining the application are considered out-

of-date. 

 

8.7 Paragraph 11 of the NPPF then clarifies what is meant by the presumption in 

favour of sustainable development for decision-taking, including where 

relevant policies are “out-of-date”.  It states: 

 

“For decision-taking this means: 

 

i. Approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 

development plan without delay; or 

ii. Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies 

which are most important for determining the application are out-of-

date, granting planning permission unless: 

 

i. The application of policies in this Framework that protect areas 

or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 

refusing the development proposed; or 

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 

policies in this Framework taken as a whole.” 

 

8.8 The key judgement for Members therefore is whether the adverse impacts of 

granting planning permission would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 

the benefits, when assessed against the policies taken as a whole. 

 

8.9 Members will be mindful of Paragraph 177 of the NPPF which states that: 

 

“The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where 

the plan or project is likely to have a significant effect on a habitats sites 

(either alone or in combination with other plans or projects), unless an 

appropriate assessment has concluded that the plan or project will not 

adversely affect the integrity of the habitats site”. 

 

Page 42



 

 

8.10 The wording of this paragraph was amended by government in February 2019 

rewording the NPPF to clarify that in cases such as this one where no 

appropriate assessment has been undertaken, the so-called ‘tilted balance’ as 

it has come to be known, of paragraph 11 is not engaged. 

 

8.11 The following sections of the report assesses the application proposals 

against this Council’s adopted Local Plan policies and considers whether it 

complies with those policies or not.  Following this Officers undertake the 

Planning Balance to weigh up the material considerations in this case. 

 

b) Residential Development in the Countryside 

 

8.12 Policy CS2 (Housing Provision) of the adopted Core Strategy states that 

priority should be given to the reuse of previously developed land within the 

urban areas.  Policy CS6 (The Development Strategy) goes on to say that 

development will be permitted within the settlement boundaries.  The 

application site lies within an area which is outside of the defined urban 

settlement boundary. 

 

8.13 Policy CS14 (Development Outside Settlements) of the Core Strategy states 

that: 

 

“Built development on land outside the defined settlements will be strictly 

controlled to protect the countryside and coastline from development which 

would adversely affect its landscape character, appearance and function.  

Acceptable forms of development will include that essential for agriculture, 

forestry, horticulture and required infrastructure.” 

 

8.14 Policy DSP6 (New Residential Development Outside of the Defined Urban 

Settlement Boundaries) of the Local Plan Part 2: Development Sites and 

Policies Plan states – there will be a presumption against new residential 

development outside of the defined urban settlement boundaries (as identified 

on the Policies Map). 

 

8.15 The site is clearly outside of the defined urban settlement boundary of 

Stubbington and Hill Head and the proposal is therefore contrary to Policies 

CS2, CS6 and CS14 of the adopted Core Strategy and Policy DSP6 of the 

adopted Local Plan Part 2: Development Sites and Policies Plan. 

 

c) Consideration of Policy DSP40: Housing Allocations 

 

8.16 Policy DSP40: Housing Allocations, of the Local Plan Part 2, states that: 

 

Page 43



 

 

“Where it can be demonstrated that the Council does not have a five year 

supply of land for housing against the requirements of the Core Strategy 

(excluding Welborne) additional housing sites, outside the urban area 

boundary, may be permitted where they meet all of the following criteria: 

 

i. The proposal is relative in scale to the demonstrated 5 year housing 

land supply shortfall; 

ii. The proposal is sustainably located adjacent to, and well related to, 

the existing urban settlement boundaries, and can be well integrated 

with the neighbouring settlement; 

iii. The proposal is sensitively designed to reflect the character of the 

neighbouring settlement and to minimise any adverse impact on the 

Countryside and, if relevant, the Strategic Gaps; 

iv. It can be demonstrated that the proposal is deliverable in the short 

term; and, 

v. The proposal would not have any unacceptable environmental, 

amenity or traffic implications”. 

 

8.17 Each of these five bullet points are worked through in detail below. 

 

Policy DSP40 (i) 

8.18 Persimmon Homes have clarified that they have a general build rate of 

approximately 60 dwellings per year on a particular site.  Therefore, for a 

scheme of 261 dwellings, the applicant has confirmed that a development of 

this scale could be constructed within approximately four and half years.   

 

8.19 As such, the current position of the Council is that the shortfall amounts to 

only 186 dwellings, for which this development proposal, if permitted would 

exceed the shortfall, but would be considered relative in scale. 

 

8.20 It is therefore considered that the proposals accord with DSP40(i). 

 

Policy DSP40 (ii) 

8.21 The site is located within the designated countryside but its eastern boundary 

abuts the adopted Stubbington and Hill Head Urban Settlement Area as 

defined in the Adopted Local Plan.  Existing residential development within the 

urban area is therefore located to the immediate east of the site (Marks Tey 

Road and Summerleigh Walk) and, although not physically abutting the site, a 

short distance from the southern end of the site (dwellings on the south side of 

Lychgate Green). 

 

8.22 The Local Highway Authority Hampshire County Council have advised that 

the suitability of walking and cycling routes from the site to the village centre 

should be reviewed by the applicant and any required improvements 

Page 44



 

 

highlighted.  They have also raised concerns that the distance from the site to 

local catchment primary and secondary schools means it is likely that a 

proportion of families will drive to those schools exacerbating an existing 

situation.  In relation to public transport, nearby Mays Lane is served by the 

First Bus 21/21A service however bus stops on the road are currently beyond 

what would be considered a reasonable walking distance from the centre of 

the application site. 

 

8.23 In summary, whilst the eastern site boundary is located immediately adjacent 

to the existing urban settlement area, the application fails to demonstrate that 

the development would be accessible with regards to public transport links 

and walking and cycling routes to local services and facilities.  For these 

reasons the proposal is contrary to Policy DSP40(ii).   

 

8.24 For those same reasons the proposal is also contrary to Policy CS5 which 

seeks to ensure that: “Development proposals which generate significant 

demand for travel and/or are of a high density will be located in accessible 

areas that are or will be well served by good quality public transport, walking 

and cycling facilities” and Policy CS15 which states that the Council “will 

promote and secure sustainable development by directing development to 

locations with sustainable transport options, access to local services, where 

there is a minimum negative impact on the environment…”. 

 

Policy DSP40 (iii) 

8.25 Officers are of the clear view that the proposal fails to satisfy the third policy 

point of DSP40. 

 

8.26 The proposal is not sensitively designed to reflect the character of the 

neighbouring settlement.   

 

8.27 The planning application has been submitted in full detail where full 

consideration of the design and appearance of the development, together with 

the proposed site layout can be considered.  The proposal seeks to construct 

a development of approximately 34 dwellings per hectare (calculated from 

only the area south of Oakcroft Lane).  The site is located in an edge of 

settlement position, where it would be expected to diminish in density in order 

to create a looser knit of development for this type of location.  However, the 

relatively high density of the proposal, which includes three storey blocks of 

flats is considered to be overly dense for this location and fails to have regard 

to the lower density development in the surrounding area, particularly when 

compared to the development at Marks Tey Road and Lychgate Green. 

 

8.28 It is acknowledged that some higher density development exists near the site, 

including at Summerleigh Walk, to the immediate east of the site.  However, 

Page 45



 

 

Summerleigh Walk represents a small pocket of development, which is not 

consistent with the prevailing pattern of development in the surrounding urban 

area.  The applicant has sought to apply a lower density of development to the 

periphery of the site, particularly to the northern section.  However, even the 

lower density developments around the northern and western parts of the site 

are also considered to be overly dense for this edge of settlement location, 

failing to respect the edge of settlement location, which is exacerbated by the 

limited level of landscaping and green infrastructure to soften the appearance 

of the site from the wider, open countryside to the north of the site. 

 

8.29 Officers consider that the cramped nature of the development results in a 

development which would have a detrimental impact on the prevailing 

character of the settlement of Stubbington.  This cramped form of 

development is notable in many aspects of the proposals.  For example, this 

is evidenced by the limited front garden sizes afforded to a significant number 

of the proposed dwellings, with many properties opening directly onto 

hardstanding, paths and car parking bays.  Approximately 128 dwellings 

(49%) of the 261 dwellings comprise little to no front gardens, which results in 

extensive levels of hardstanding being created to the frontage of the site.  

Many of these properties also comprise parking bays directly to the front of 

the properties which when viewed along the street scene would diminish the 

visual amenity of the area with a number of the trees comprising only token 

areas of landscaping, resulting in a poor quality of living environment and 

decreasing the likelihood of the long-term preservation of these small pockets 

of vegetation.   

 

8.30 Related to this is the overall prevalence of hard landscaping across the 

proposed scheme which Officers considers unacceptably compromises the 

visual amenities of the development.  More appropriate solutions to achieving 

a mix of parking provisions, which integrates a greater level of soft 

landscaping is sought in order to create more attractive, walkable 

neighbourhoods which do not appear dominated by the car, and street scenes 

that create views and vistas into and out of the site, relating better to the wider 

countryside beyond have failed to be achieved on this important, edge of 

settlement location. 

 

8.31 In addition, the development proposal includes two, three storey blocks of 

flats, which whilst located within the centre of the site, represent substantial 

blocks of built form and increased massing within a site which should form a 

lower density, well landscaped edge of settlement character.  The main three 

storey block would be partially viewed along the main access road and would 

be situated adjacent to a cluster of 2.5 storey terraced dwellings.  The 

massing and density of these properties adds to the overdeveloped character 

of the site, where the presence of a flatted development should be 

Page 46



 

 

discouraged in this location.  The massing, bulk and form of the flatted 

developments are akin to a more urban setting and again is at odds with the 

prevailing pattern of development within the neighbouring settlement area. 

 

8.32 The above paragraphs have focussed predominantly on lack of sensitive 

design which has resulted in a proposal which does not respond positively to, 

and is not respectful of, the character of the adjacent urban area.  The 

proposal also fails to minimise the adverse impacts of the development on the 

countryside located to the north and west of the site.   

 

8.33 To the west of the site lies Crofton Cemetery, which is designated as an area 

of public open space within the Adopted Local Plan.  At present, the cemetery 

benefits from a countryside setting, with open countryside to the immediate 

north, east and west.  The southern boundary also forms parts of an 

established woodland which includes public rights of way linking the cemetery 

to the low density, residential environment of Marks Tey Road.  The cemetery 

is currently separated from the site by a well-established hedgerow 

approximately 2 metres high, which with an open, undeveloped field beyond 

enhances the countryside setting of the cemetery.  A great number of third-

party letters of objection have raised serious concerns regarding the impact 

development on the site, in proximity to the cemetery shown would 

significantly impact on the tranquillity and sense of place the cemetery 

currently enjoys.   

 

8.34 The current proposal includes the gable ends of five dwellings within a few 

metres of the hedgerow, which would have a significant, and unacceptable 

overbearing visual impact on the setting of the cemetery.  In addition, eight 

properties would have rear gardens backing up to the hedgerow, with four of 

the five properties whose gable ends adjoin the hedgerow also having rear 

gardens comprising the hedgerow as part of the boundary.  This is likely to 

increase pressure on the hedgerow and could result in fencing or other means 

of enclosure encroaching onto the hedge, further impacting on the possible 

longevity of the hedgerow and rural character, appearance and setting of the 

cemetery.  These matters, which together with the lack of a habitat buffer 

within the site adjacent to this boundary which is discussed later in this report, 

would result in a harmful impact on the visual amenity the cemetery currently 

enjoys. 

 

8.35 In respect of the impact on the landscape character when viewing the site 

from the north, the site lies within the Fareham/Stubbington Gap as defined in 

the Council’s Landscape Character Assessment 2017, and despite the 

application being supported by a Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment 

(LVIA) highlighting only a negligible impact on the landscape, Officers 

consider that the development of the field to the southern side of Oakcroft 

Page 47



 

 

Lane would have a major/moderate landscape effect on the immediate area.  

It is acknowledged that this impact is relatively contained with the impact on 

the landscape resources reducing with increased distance from the site.  

However, views of the development would be evidenced from Peak Lane 

travelling southwards, which has not been assessed by the applicant’s LVIA.  

The relatively thin line of poplar trees along the northern perimeter of the site, 

adjacent to Oakcroft Lane would not offer a significant level of screening to 

the development site in the immediate surrounding landscape context, which 

has resulted in an underestimation of the effects of the proposals on 

landscaping character at the site and local levels. 

 

8.36 In respect of the impact on the integrity of the Strategic Gap, it is 

acknowledged that the development of the site would result in the physical 

construction of new development within an area of undeveloped land within 

the Gap.  Oakcroft Lane acts as a strong defensible boundary behind which 

the development would be contained, where the existing boundary vegetation 

along the lane provides some existing visual containment.  However, the lack 

of a robust level of landscaping to the periphery of the site and the access 

road could lead to a perception of urban creep northwards from Stubbington.  

The sense of separation between Fareham and Stubbington would be largely 

maintained through the development of the land to the southern side of 

Oakcroft Lane, although the perception of where Stubbington begins would be 

marginally eroded through the introduction of the new access road.  

Maintenance of existing vegetation cover and additional planting along the 

new access road would contribute towards reducing this effect.  Officers 

recognise that this is a finely balanced material consideration in the 

determination of this planning application. 

 

8.37 It is therefore considered that the proposal is poorly designed and laid out, 

failing to reflect the neighbouring settlement character or its location at the 

edge of the settlement.  Whilst the development of the site would not have a 

significant effect on the integrity of the Strategic Gap and the physical and 

visual separation of settlements, the overly dense character of the proposal 

together with the limited levels of landscaping around the periphery would 

result in a significant landscape effect on the immediate area.  The proposal 

fails to accord with part (iii) of DSP40, and policies CS14 and CS17. 

 

Policy DSP40 (iv) 

8.38 The applicants have stated in their supporting Planning Statement that the 

greenfield nature of the site would ensure that the site can be delivered 

immediately in the event that planning permission is granted.  The applicant 

has also highlighted that Persimmon Homes have a long-established history 

of delivering large housing sites and the resources to ensure this development 

is expedited in the short term.  The Council has the ability to reduce the 

Page 48



 

 

implementation period where there is a shortfall in housing provision, in order 

to ensure the delivery of housing in the short term.  This would mean the 

delivery of the full number of houses within the five year housing supply 

period. 

 

8.39 It is therefore considered that the proposal accords with part (iv) of DPS40. 

 

Policy DSP40 (v) 

8.40 The final text of Policy DSP40 requires that proposals would not have any 

unacceptable environmental, amenity or traffic implications.  These are 

discussed in turn below: 

 

Likely Significant Effects on the Designated Sites 

8.41 The Solent is internationally important for its wildlife.  Each winter, it hosts 

over 90,000 waders and wildfowl including 10 per cent of the global population 

of Brent geese.  These birds come from as far as Siberia to feed and roost 

before returning to their summer habitats to breed.  There are also plants, 

habitats and other animals within the Solent which are of both national and 

international importance. 

 

8.42 In light of their importance, areas within the Solent have been specially 

designated under UK/European law.  Amongst the most significant 

designations are Special Protection Areas (SPA) and Special Areas of 

Conservation (SAC).  These are often referred to as ‘European Protected 

Sites’(EPS). 

 

8.43 The application site is approximately 275 metres from the Solent and 

Southampton Waters SPA and Ramsar Site, 2.2 km from the Portsmouth 

Harbour SPA and Ramsar Site, 11.4 km from the Chichester and Langstone 

Harbours SPA and 5.1 km from the Solent Maritime SAC.   

 

8.44 Policy CS4 sets out the strategic approach to biodiversity in respect of 

sensitive European sites and mitigation impacts on air quality.  Policy DSP13 

confirms the requirement to ensure that designated sites, sites of nature 

conservation value, protected and priority species populations and associated 

habitats are protected and where appropriate enhanced.   

 

8.45 Firstly, Natural England has highlighted that there is existing evidence of high 

levels of nitrogen and phosphorus in parts of The Solent with evidence of 

eutrophication.  Natural England has further highlighted that increased levels 

of nitrates entering the Solent (because of increased amounts of wastewater 

from new dwellings) will have a likely significant effect upon the EPS. 

 

Page 49



 

 

8.46 In respect therefore of the effect on water quality, the development would see 

the loss of 19.4 ha of active arable farmland, and the applicants have 

submitted information to demonstrate the proposals would be nitrate neutral (-

90kg/TN/year approximately) and would therefore result in an improvement on 

the existing situation in terms of the level of nitrates being discharged into the 

Solent.  Officers are satisfied that, if the application were to be recommended 

for approval, the necessary offsetting of the agricultural land could be secured 

by way of a suitably worded planning obligation in a legal agreement under 

Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act.  Subject to that obligation 

Officers consider the development would not result in adverse effects on the 

EPS. 

 

8.47 Secondly, Natural England has further advised that the effects of emissions 

from increased traffic along roads within 200 metres of the EPS also has the 

potential to cause a likely significant effect.   

 

8.48 In respect of air quality issues, the applicant has provided an Air Quality 

Ecological Impact Assessment (AQEIA) which has been considered by 

Natural England.  The AQEIA concludes that the proposed development 

would not have a significant effect on the integrity of the protected sites and 

Natural England have raised no objection on this basis.  However, Officers 

have some concerns that the AQEIA does not satisfactorily address the in-

combination effects of other developments, specifically in regards to those in 

the western half of the Borough, nor does it robustly assess the impact of 

vehicular traffic travelling westwards.  The AQEIA assesses vehicular 

movements from the site to the Titchfield Gyratory (including the Stubbington 

By-pass) eastwards towards Junction 11 of the M27 but fails to assess the 

impact westwards from the Titchfield Gyratory towards Junction 9 (Whiteley) 

of the M27.  It is considered likely that the majority of traffic travelling along 

the By-pass (when constructed) to the Titchfield Gyratory would continue to 

travel westwards along the A27 (Southampton Road) towards the 

Segensworth Roundabout, rather than turning eastwards towards Fareham.  

In the absence of a sufficiently robust assessment of these matters Officers 

consider that it remains uncertain whether or not the impact of air quality will 

result in likely significant effects on EPS. 

 

8.49 Finally, the Solent coastline (including the River Hamble) provides feeding 

ground for internationally protected populations of overwintering birds and is 

used extensively for recreation.  Natural England has concluded that where 

residential development is proposed within 5.6km of the Solent SPAs the 

likelihood of a significant effect from recreational visits, as a result of the in-

combination effects of all new residential development around the Solent, 

cannot be ruled out. 

 

Page 50



 

 

8.50 Policy DSP15 requires appropriate mitigation against the impact of 

recreational disturbance arising from new housing development on the Solent 

SPAs, as required by the Solent Recreational Mitigation Strategy (SRMS), 

which has been formally adopted by the Council.  No contribution towards 

habitat mitigation has been provided to mitigate against increased recreational 

disturbance, and therefore the development is contrary to Policy DSP15.  The 

applicants have expressed a willingness to make the necessary financial 

contribution towards the SRMS and this matter could therefore be adequately 

addressed.  If the application were to be recommended by Officers for 

approval this matter could be addressed through the applicant entering into a 

suitably worded planning obligation in a Section 106 legal agreement. 

 

8.51 In summary, Officers consider that it has not been demonstrated that 

European Protected Sites would not be adversely affected by the 

development and the proposal therefore fails to protect those sites.  As a 

result the proposal is contrary to Policies CS4, DSP13 & DSP15 of the 

adopted local plan.    

 

8.52 In this particular case no Appropriate Assessment has been carried out by the 

Local Planning Authority under the ‘habitat regulations’.  Regulation 63 of the 

Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 provides that planning permission can 

only be granted by a ‘Competent Authority’ (in this case the Local Planning 

Authority) if it can be shown that the proposed development will either not 

have a likely significant effect on designated European sites or, if it is likely to 

have a significant effect, that effect can be mitigated so that it will not result in 

an adverse effect on the integrity of the designated European sites.  However 

since the application is being recommended for refusal by Officers for other 

reasons, there is no requirement to carry out an Appropriate Assessment as 

would otherwise be required.  

 

Ecology on-site 

8.53 The application has been supported by a number of ecological surveys, 

however the proposals have been subject to a detailed objection from the 

Council’s Ecologist due to the overall scale of the development, and the lack 

of habitats being created on site, together with serious concerns regarding the 

impact on a number of protected species, including watervoles and badgers.   

 

8.54 The land south of Oakcroft Lane is classified as a Low Use site in the Solent 

Waders and Brent Goose Strategy (2018) which highlights that Low Use sites 

have the potential to support the existing network and provide alternative 

options and resilience for the future network.  The Strategy highlights that in 

the first instance, consideration should be given to on-site mitigation, off-

setting and/or enhancements.  Where this is not practical, compensation 

funding should be considered.  Compensation funding may include payment 

Page 51



 

 

towards the management and enhancement of the wider waders and Brent 

geese ecological network.  The Council’s Ecologist considers that 

compensation funding would be acceptable in this case to the land south of 

Oakcroft Lane. 

 

8.55 During the course of the application being considered, the land north of 

Oakcroft Lane has been re-classified as a Secondary Support Area in the 

Solent Waders and Brent Goose Strategy which highlights that they offer an 

important function in supporting the Core and Primary Support ecological 

network.  In-combination, these sites are essential to secure a long term, 

permanent network as this ensures a geographical spread of sites across the 

wider ecological network.  The Secondary Support Areas also provide suitable 

and favoured sites in years where the population includes high numbers of 

juveniles, as well as ensuring future resilience. 

 

8.56 The Strategy continues to state that the loss of or damage to Secondary 

Support Areas should be discouraged and on-site avoidance and mitigation 

measures considered wherever possible.  The preference for the use of these 

sites is for on-site provision to maintain a network of sites across the region.  

Where the loss or partial loss of Secondary Support Areas is unavoidable, 

they should be off-set by the provision of suitable replacement habitats which 

are supported by an agreed costed habitat management plan and funding 

secured in perpetuity. 

 

8.57 Officers have discussed the implications with the applicant and it has been 

agreed in principle that this land could be converted into habitat more suited to 

encourage and enhance the use of the land for these protected birds.  

However, no specific details of this has been formally considered as part of 

the application proposal.   

 

Other Environmental Implications 

8.58 The application has been supported by a detailed Tree Protection Plan and 

Arboricultural Impact Assessment, however, the Council’s Tree Officer has 

raised concerns regarding the proximity and likely pressure the proposed 

development would have on the trees that currently form the perimeter of the 

site, and in particular those protected trees along the eastern boundary.  The 

close proximity of the proposed houses, roads and proposed footpath are 

likely to lead to increased pressure on the preservation of these trees, leaving 

limited spaces for their growth and future retention. 

 

8.59 The Environment Agency have raised an objection due to the lack of 

resilience to climate change being integrated into the development proposal.  

The applicant provided a Flood Risk Assessment to support the proposals.  

However, due to the lack of an adequate assessment on climate change, the 

Page 52



 

 

Environment Agency has concerns that the development will be safe for its 

lifetime, in terms of both the property and its inhabitants.  Therefore, the 

proposal is contrary to NPPF paragraph 163 in that it has failed to 

demonstrate that the development is appropriately flood resistant and 

resilient. 

 

8.60 The application proposal is therefore considered contrary to point (v) – 

environmental impact of Policy DPS40. 

 

Amenity 

8.61 The proposed development abuts the existing urban settlement boundary 

along its eastern edge giving rise to the potential for adverse impacts on the 

amenities of existing residents living nearby.   

 

8.62 Officers have considered the relationships between the proposed housing and 

the existing dwellings in neighbouring streets having regard to the advice in 

the Council’s Adopted Design Guidance (excluding Welborne) Supplementary 

Planning Document and have found that the relative separation distances 

would exceed the minimum distances sought and would not therefore have 

unacceptable adverse impacts on the living conditions of these occupiers.  

However, due to the relative proximity of the proposed dwellings along the 

eastern edge of the development, the development could result in greater 

pressure to remove the trees along the eastern boundary.  The limited 

spacing of the buildings along this edge of the development could, in the 

event that the trees are required to be removed or fail to survive the 

development, result in the potential loss of a defined green corridor along the 

eastern boundary, impacting on the outlook from the occupiers to the east. 

 

8.63 Officers have also considered the living environment proposed to be created 

within the site itself.  It has been found that approximately 88 dwellings (34%) 

of the 261 dwellings proposed do not comprise the minimum 11 metre long 

rear gardens sought in the Design Guidance SPD.  This further highlights the 

cramped nature of the proposal as referred to earlier in this report, but also 

provides insufficient external amenity space for future residents of the 

development.  It would also result in insufficient back-to-back relationships 

between some properties where the separation distances fall below the 

minimum 22 metres required by the Design Guidance SPD.  This would cause 

unacceptable levels of overlooking and result in a lack of privacy for 

neighbouring occupiers.  The flatted scheme, at three storeys would also have 

only 22 metres separation to the properties to the rear and would result in 

considerable and constant overlooking from first and second floor flats, 

including living rooms and bedrooms to the neighbouring properties, resulting 

in a poor living environment for these future occupiers. 

 

Page 53



 

 

8.64 There are further concerns over the amount and quality of public open space 

proposed.  The Council’s adopted Planning Obligations SPD requires the 

provision of a NEAP (Neighbourhood Equipped Area of Play) for 

developments of 200 houses or more.  The applicant proposes to provide a 

NEAP on part of the area of land to the north of Oakcroft Lane.  The NEAP is 

poorly located away from the proposed houses and is not well integrated into 

the wider development.   

 

8.65 Based on a development of 261 dwellings with the mix of dwellings proposed, 

the scheme is required to provide 0.913ha of open space to accord with the 

Council’s adopted Planning Obligations SPD.  The applicant proposes that the 

land to the northern side of Oakcroft Lane is dedicated as public open space 

(approximately 10ha).  However, as explained earlier in this report, this land is 

designated as a Secondary Support Area for migratory SPA birds and so 

cannot be relied on as providing public open space to meet the requirements 

of the SPD. 

 

8.66 As such, discounting the land to the northern side of Oakcroft Lane, the 

application proposes approximately 1.29ha of open space, although 1.09ha of 

that land is already existing open space and would need to be excluded.  The 

1.09ha of land is designated as open space in the adopted Local Plan (Marks 

Tey Road Woodland).  Therefore, the proposal only includes an area of 0.2ha 

of open space, which is well below the minimum standard required in the 

adopted Planning Obligations SPD and highlights the overdevelopment of the 

site.  Further, the Council’s adopted Design Guidance SPD makes reference 

to the positioning of new public spaces for larger developments, highlighting 

that they will be expected to provide new well designed and thought out public 

spaces which function successfully.  The siting of the main new provision of 

open space to the northern periphery of the site would be poorly related to the 

remainder of the development, and existing residents.  The NEAP would be 

poorly overlooked by nearby residential properties resulting in a lack of natural 

surveillance and would not create a vibrant, active space.  The location fails to 

accord with the advice of the Design Guidance SPD. 

 

8.67 In summary, the proposal fails to provide adequate external private amenity 

space and the separation distances between some dwellings would lead to 

overlooking and loss of privacy.  There public open space proposed is 

insufficient and poor quality.  The development would therefore be contrary to 

Policies CS17, CS21, DSP2 and DSP3 of the adopted Local Plan and 

contrary to point (v) – amenity impact of Policy DSP40. 

 

Traffic 

8.68 In respect of the traffic impact from the development proposal, the application 

has been supported by detailed Transport Assessment and Travel Plan, both 

Page 54



 

 

of which have been considered in detail by the Highway Authority who has 

raised substantial objections to the proposals, a summary of which is set out 

in paragraph 7.9 above.   

 

8.69 The application proposal will be accessed from a new linked service road into 

the site directly onto Peak Lane, north of the existing Oakcroft Lane junction.  

The access road will cross Oakcroft Lane at the northern end of the site where 

to the east, Oakcroft Lane will be closed off, creating a no through road for the 

occupiers of Three Ways Close (to the immediate east of the site).  The will 

however be a new westward junction from the new link road onto Oakcroft 

Lane, maintaining the east-west connection between Peak Lane and Titchfield 

Road (to the west of the site).   

 

8.70 A number of junctions have been modelled to assess the likely impact, 

including the site access with Peak Lane, Peak Lane/Longfield 

Avenue/Rowan Way roundabout, Ranvilles Lane/A27 and the proposed By-

pass/Peak Lane.  These junctions have been considered using a variety of 

scenarios including other potential developments and whether or not the by-

pass would be implemented.  The Highway Authority has raised concerns that 

several key junctions have not been considered, particularly those within 

Stubbington. 

 

8.71 In addition to the modelling of the junctions, there are a number of serious 

concerns regarding traffic implications within the development site itself which 

the applicant has not addressed.  These include the width of some internal 

roads being inadequate and unable to accommodate the passing of refuse 

vehicles (or other large lorries) and cars without the need for one vehicle to 

mount the pavement.  This adds to concerns made above that the 

development proposal is cramped and represents an overdevelopment of the 

site.  This could also be exacerbated by the provision of a significant 

proportion of the higher density dwellings comprising unallocated car parking 

spaces, which is likely to result in an increase provision of on-street car 

parking, some of which might be needed on the main access road.   

 

8.72 Additionally, a number of the properties on the main access road comprise 

tandem parking, including triple tandem parking.  Whilst tandem parking may 

be considered acceptable in some circumstances on side streets where it is 

accompanied by more generous road widths, this type of parking on the main 

road could result in increased numbers of vehicle movements, and vehicles 

reversing onto this road, to the detriment of highway safety for future 

occupiers. 

 

Page 55



 

 

8.73 Further concerns have also been raised regarding the number and distribution 

of visitors parking, largely located to the periphery of the site, and the lack of 

provision for electric charging points for vehicles. 

 

8.74 The Travel Plan, submitted with the planning application has also been 

considered by the Hampshire County Council Travel Plan team, and 

deficiencies have been identified despite considering the overall quality of the 

Plan being good, following the advice set out in the County Council’s 

evaluation criteria.  No amendments to the Travel Plan have been received to 

address the shortcomings in its content. 

 

8.75 The Local Highway Authority maintain an objection to the proposals and as a 

result of the points set out above Officers consider the application to be 

contrary to point (v) – traffic implications of Policy DSP40. 

 

d) Other Matters: 

 

Impact on setting of Grade II* Listed Crofton Old Church 

8.76 Historic England, the statutory consultee in relation to heritage matters, have 

raised no objection to the proposals on heritage grounds.  However they 

identify that there would be harm to the setting of the listed church through the 

erosion of its rural setting and describe the level of harm as low. 

 

8.77 Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

requires local planning authorities to give special regard to the desirability of 

preserving a listed building or its setting.  The NPPF makes it clear that any 

harm to a designated asset, including through development in its setting, must 

be clearly and convincingly justified and weighed against public benefits.   

 

8.78 Officers have carefully considered the advice from Historic England and 

concur with the view expressed over the level of harm being low.  Officers 

consider this harm to be ‘less than substantial’.  Paragraph 196 of the NPPF 

states: 

 

“Where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the 

significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed 

against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, 

securing its optimum viable use.” 

 

8.79 However, even if the harm is less than substantial, the balancing exercise of 

Paragraph 196 must not ignore the overarching statutory duty imposed by 

Section 66 which requires considerable importance and weight to be given to 

the desirability of preserving the setting of all listed buildings.  As a result 

Officers consider that the public benefits do not outweigh the harm to the 

Page 56



 

 

setting of the Grade II* listed church.  The proposal is therefore contrary to 

NPPF Paragraph 196 and local plan Policy DSP5. 

 

Affordable housing provision 

8.80 The development proposes the provision of 40% affordable housing (104.4 

dwellings) and Officers have considered that the level set out is appropriate, 

although 105 dwellings should be provided on site, or the 0.4 unit should be 

provided as an off-site financial contribution.  However, having regard to the 

identified local need, the Council’s Housing Officer considers that the level of 

2-bedroom units proposed as affordable housing should be reduced and 

replaced with 3-bedroom units.  The affordable housing offer by the applicant 

is therefore unacceptable and fails to provide to provide a mixture of dwelling 

sizes that reflect the identified needs of the local population contrary to Policy 

CS18 of the adopted local plan.   

 

e) The Planning Balance: 

 

8.81 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 sets out the 

starting point for the determination of planning applications: 

 

“If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purposes of any 

determination to be made under the Planning Acts the determination must be 

made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 

otherwise”. 

 

8.82 As set out in paragraph 8.9 above, the effect of Paragraph 177 of the NPPF is 

that:  

 

“The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not apply where 

the plan or project is likely to have a significant effect on a habitats sites 

(either alone or in combination with other plans or projects), unless an 

appropriate assessment has concluded that the plan or project will not 

adversely affect the integrity of the habitats site”. 

 

8.83 In this instance Officers have identified significant effects on habitats sites and 

no Appropriate Assessment has been carried out.  With that in mind the so 

called ‘tilted balance’ of Paragraph 11 of the NPPF is not engaged.  

 

8.84 The site is outside of the defined urban settlement boundary and the proposal 

does not relate to agricultural, forestry, horticulture and required infrastructure.  

The principle of the proposed development of the site would be contrary to 

Policies CS2, CS6 and CS14 of the Core Strategy and Policy DSP6 of the 

Local Plan Part 2: Development Sites and Policies Plan. 

 

Page 57



 

 

8.85 Officers have carefully assessed the proposals against Policy DSP40: 

Housing Allocations, which is engaged as this Council cannot demonstrate a 

5YHLS.  Officers have also given due regard to the updated 5YHLS position 

report presented to the Planning Committee in April 2019 and the Government 

steer in respect of housing delivery.  It is acknowledged that the proposal 

would make a significant contribution to the shortfall of houses in the Borough, 

including the provision of affordable housing, and that the development could 

be carried out without delay delivering a substantial number of houses in the 

short term.  However, the proposal fails key tests set out in points (iii) and (v) 

of Policy DSP40.   

 

8.86 The development would have an adverse visual effect on the countryside, 

would erode the integrity of the strategic gap and would result in a cramped 

layout of low quality which would fail to respond positively to and be respectful 

of the key characteristics of the surrounding area.  It would have unacceptable 

ecological, environmental, amenity and traffic implications and would result in 

less than substantial harm to a designated heritage asset. 

 

8.87 In light of this assessment, and taking into account all other material planning 

considerations, Officers recommend that planning permission should not be 

granted for this application.  A recommendation for refusal is set out below at 

paragraph 9.1. 

 

8.88 This balancing exercise has been made under Section 38(6) of the 2004 Act 

as set out above, however if the likely significant effects of the development 

on habitats sites had been addressed and an Appropriate Assessment had 

concluded no adverse effects on the integrity of the habitats sites, the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development would apply.  The 

remainder of this report clarifies the Officer advice in that scenario. 

 

8.89 Should the presumption in favour of sustainable development apply, 

Paragraph 11 of the NPPF states: 

 

“For decision-taking this means: 

 

c) Approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 

development plan without delay; or 

d) Where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies 

which are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, 

granting planning permission unless: 

 

i. The application of policies in this Framework that protect areas 

or assets of particular importance provides a clear reason for 

refusing the development proposed; or 

Page 58



 

 

ii. Any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 

policies in this Framework taken as a whole.” 

 

8.90 The proposal does not accord with the development plan (point c).  In terms of 

the first limb of point d), there are two policies within the NPPF which provide 

clear reasons for refusing the development. 

 

8.91 Firstly, the report above has shown how the proposal is contrary to NPPF 

paragraph 163 in that it has failed to demonstrate that the development is 

appropriately flood resistant and resilient. 

 

8.92 Secondly, the report has also identified that the proposal is contrary to NPPF 

paragraph 196 in that it will lead to less than substantial harm to the 

significance of a designated heritage asset. 

 

8.93 Finally, even if those reasons for refusal were not in place, Officers consider 

that the adverse impacts of granting planning permission would significantly 

and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies 

of the NPPF taken as a whole. 

 

9.0 Recommendation 

9.1 REFUSE PLANNING PERMISSION, for the following reasons: 

 

The development would be contrary to Policies CS2, CS4, CS5, CS6, CS14, 

CS15, CS17, CS18, CS20, CS21 and CS22 of the Adopted Fareham Borough 

Core Strategy 2011 and Policies DSP1, DSP2, DSP3, DSP5, DSP6, DSP13, 

DSP14, DSP15 and DSP40 of the Adopted Local Plan Part 2: Development 

Sites and Policies Plan, and is unacceptable in that: 

 

i) the provision of dwellings in this location would be contrary to adopted 

local plan policies which seek to prevent residential development in the 

countryside.   

 

ii) the development of the site would result in an adverse visual effect on 

the immediate countryside setting around the site. 

 

iii) the introduction of dwellings in this location would fail to respond 

positively to and be respectful of the key characteristics of the area, in 

this countryside, edge of settlement location, providing limited green 

infrastructure and offering a lack of interconnected green/public 

spaces. 

 

Page 59



 

 

iv) the quantum of development proposed would result in a cramped 

layout and would not deliver a housing scheme of high quality which 

respects and responds positively to the key characteristics of the area. 

 

v) the proposed development involves development that involves 

significant vehicle movements that cannot be accommodated 

adequately on the existing transport network.  Insufficient information 

has been provided to demonstrate that the development would not 

result in a severe impact on road safety and operation of the local 

transport network. 

 

vi) the proposed access arrangement onto Peak Lane is inadequate to 

accommodate the development safely.  This would result in an 

unacceptable impact on the safety of users of the development and 

adjoining highway network. 

 

vii) the proposal fails to demonstrate that the development would be 

accessible with regards to public transport links and walking and 

cycling routes to local services and facilities. 

 

viii) the development proposal fails to provide sufficient provision of, or 

support for, sustainable transport options.  This would result in a 

greater number of trips by private car which will create a severe impact 

on the local transport network and the environment. 

 

ix) inadequate information has been provided to assess the impact of the 

proposed works on water voles on site and any measures required to 

mitigate these impacts such as the provision of enhanced riparian 

buffers.  In addition, there is insufficient information in relation to their 

long-term protection within the wider landscape by failing to undertake 

any assessment of the impact of the proposals on connectivity between 

the mitigation pond created as part of the Stubbington Bypass Scheme 

and the wider landscape.  The proposal fails to provide appropriate 

biodiversity enhancements to allow the better dispersal of the 

recovering/reintroduced water vole population in Stubbington. 

 

x) insufficient information has been submitted in relation to the adverse 

impacts of the proposals on the Solent Waders and Brent Goose Low 

Use Site and Strategy Secondary Support Area and any mitigation 

measures required to ensure the long-term resilience of these support 

networks. 

 

xi) the development proposal fails to provide adequate wildlife corridors 

along the boundaries of the site to ensure the long-term viability of the 

Page 60



 

 

protected and notable species on the site and avoidance of any future 

conflicts between the residents and wildlife (e.g. badgers damaging 

private garden areas) due to the lack of available suitable foraging 

habitat. 

 

xii) in the absence of sufficient information, it is considered that the 

proposal will result in a net loss in biodiversity and is therefore contrary 

to the NPPF which requires a net gain in biodiversity; 

 

xiii) the development would result in an unacceptable impact on a number 

of protected trees around the periphery of the site. 

 

xiv) the submitted flood risk assessment fails to assess the impact of 

climate change on the development and therefore fails to demonstrate 

that the development is appropriately flood resistant and resilient; 

 

xv) the development would fail to preserve, and would result in less than 

substantial harm to, the historic setting of the Grade II* Listed building 

Crofton Old Church; 

 

xvi) had it not been for the overriding reasons for refusal the Council would 

have sought to secure the details of the SuDS strategy including the 

mechanisms for securing its long term maintenance. 

 

xvii) the development proposal fails to secure an on-site provision of 

affordable housing at a level in accordance with the requirements of 

the Local Plan. 

 

xviii) in the absence of a legal agreement to secure such, the proposal 

would fail to provide satisfactory mitigation of the ‘in combination’ 

effects that the proposed increase in residential units on the site would 

cause through increased recreational disturbance on the Solent 

Coastal Special Protection Areas. 

 

xix) the development proposal fails to provide adequate public open space.  

In addition, in the absence of a legal agreement securing provision of 

open space and facilities and their associated management and 

maintenance, the recreational needs of residents of the proposed 

development would not be met. 

 

xx) in the absence of a legal agreement to secure the submission and 

implementation of a full Travel Plan, payment of the Travel Plan 

approval and monitoring fees and provision of a surety mechanism to 

ensure implementation of the Travel Plan, the proposed development 

Page 61



 

 

would not make the necessary provision to ensure measures are in 

place to assist in reducing the dependency on the use of the private 

motorcar. 

 

xxi) in the absence of a legal agreement to secure such, the proposal 

would fail to provide a financial contribution towards education 

provision. 

 

10.0 Background Papers 

 P/19/0301/FP 

 

  

Page 62



 

 

 

Page 63



 
PLANNING APPEALS 
 
The following list details the current situation regarding new and outstanding planning appeals and
decisions.
 

CURRENT ENF/56/17
Appellant:
Site:

HEARING
Borderland Fencing Ltd
BORDERLAND FENCING NEW ROAD SWANWICK
SOUTHAMPTON SO31 7HE

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

17 July 2019
AGAINST ENFORCE
UNAUTHORISED EXPANSION OF SITE AND BREACH
OF CONDITIONS

CURRENT P/17/0841/FP
Appellant:
Site:

HEARING
Mr Jason Smitherman
Land to the east of Furze Court Wickham Road Fareham

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Committee
REFUSE
REFUSE
10 April 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
Construction of 12 dwellings together with associated
access, car parking, drainage and landscaping

CURRENT P/17/1514/FP
Appellant:
Site:

HEARING
Mrs Anita Barney
Land to the rear of 77 Burridge Road Burridge
SOUTHAMPTON

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Committee
REFUSE
REFUSE
10 April 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
1no. Four bedroom detached dwelling and garage

CURRENT P/18/0005/OA
Appellant:
Site:

PUBLIC INQUIRY
Miller Homes
Land to East of Down End Road Fareham

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Committee
APPROVE
REFUSE
13 June 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
Outline planning application with all matters reserved
(except the means of access) for residential development,
demolition of existing agricultural buildings and the
construction of new buildings providing up to 350
dwellings; the creation of new vehicular access with
footways and cycleways; provision of landscaped
communal amenity space, including children's play space;

Page 64

Agenda Item 6(3)



creation of public open space; together with associated
highways, landscaping, drainage and utilities.

CURRENT P/18/0122/FP
Appellant:
Site:

WRITTEN REPS
Mr P Robinson
30 Fern Way Fareham

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Officer Delegated Powers

REFUSE
5 December 2018
AGAINST REFUSAL
Erection of Detached 3-Bed Dwelling within Landscape
Buffer

CURRENT P/18/0263/OA
Appellant:
Site:

WRITTEN REPS
Driftstone Homes
The Grange Oakcroft Lane Fareham

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Committee
APPROVE
REFUSE
10 June 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
Outline Application for the provision of up to 16 dwellings
and two new vehicular accesses onto Ranvilles Lane and
the relocation of the existing access onto Oakcroft Lane

CURRENT P/18/0347/OA
Appellant:
Site:

WRITTEN REPS
Amici Developments Ltd
Land to the East of 246 Botley Road Burridge Fareham

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Committee
APPROVE
REFUSE
10 June 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
Outline Application for the provision of up to eight
detached 5-bedroomed dwellings with access onto Botley
Road

CURRENT P/18/0376/FP
Appellant:
Site:

WRITTEN REPS
Mr Patrick Reilly
Land to the rear of September Cottage Brook Avenue
Warsash

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Committee
REFUSE
REFUSE
11 January 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
Four detached dwellings with associated garages, parking
and landscaping following the demolition of existing
industrial and storage buildings

CURRENT P/18/0505/FP
Appellant:
Site:

HEARING
Mr Edward Doherty
247 TITCHFIELD ROAD CROFTON HOUSE SITE
STUBBINGTON FAREHAM

Page 65



Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Committee
APPROVE
REFUSE
7 August 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
Use of land as a residential caravan site for five gypsy
families, (10 caravans), including the laying of
hardstanding, five utility buildings, fencing and installation
of package sewage treatment plant.

CURRENT P/18/0626/FP
Appellant:
Site:

HH APPEAL SERVICE
Mrs  Batchelor
225 Brook Lane Sarisbury Green Southampton

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Officer Delegated Powers

REFUSE
30 January 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
A rear single storey extension.
First floor extension over existing garage space.
Also, remodel of the exterior appearance (render and
cladding).

CURRENT P/18/0671/OA
Appellant:
Site:

WRITTEN REPS
Mr Frank Milner
113 & 115 Newtown Road Warsash Southampton

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Officer Delegated Powers

REFUSE
11 February 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
Erection of Detached Dwelling to Rear of 113-115
Newtown Road

Decision:
Decision Date:

DISMISSED
15 July 2019

CURRENT P/18/0731/FP
Appellant:
Site:

WRITTEN REPS
Ms Jane Conway
5 Warsash Court Havelock Road Warsash Southampton

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Officer Delegated Powers

REFUSE
8 January 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
Replace existing velux window with a velux double
balcony terrace window

CURRENT P/18/0869/OA
Appellant:
Site:

WRITTEN REPS
MR D WARD
39-41 HOME RULE ROAD LOCKS HEATH
SOUTHAMPTON

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Officer Delegated Powers

REFUSE
7 February 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
Outline application with all matters reserved (except
access and layout) for the provision of 1no. dwelling to

Page 66



rear of 39 & 41 home rule road with access from Chancel
Road

CURRENT P/18/0893/FP
Appellant:
Site:

WRITTEN REPS
Mr & Mrs  Foley
Little Hook Hook Park Road Warsash Southampton

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Officer Delegated Powers

REFUSE
16 April 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
One and a half storey front extension with dormer
windows, tiled canopy to front, two additional dormer
windows within front roof slope, alterations to front,
entrance, single storey side/rear extension, alterations to
existing fenestration within rear elevation, and detached
car port with storage.

Decision:
Decision Date:

ALLOWED
9 July 2019

CURRENT P/18/1093/TO
Appellant:
Site:

WRITTEN REPS
Mr Norman Matthew
9 Rannoch Close Fareham

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Officer Delegated Powers
REFUSE
REFUSE
12 November 2018
AGAINST REFUSAL
Fell one oak protected by TPO 10(W1).

CURRENT P/18/1331/FP
Appellant:
Site:

WRITTEN REPS
Mr Kim Rose
35 Burridge Road Burridge Southampton

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Officer Delegated Powers
REFUSE
REFUSE
2 August 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
Subterranean 5-bedroomed dwelling to the rear of 35
Burridge Road, accessed from Green Lane

CURRENT P/18/1412/FP
Appellant:
Site:

WRITTEN REPS
P J Developments Ltd
93 Longmynd Drive Fareham

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Officer Delegated Powers

REFUSE
3 April 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
Conversion of Semi-Detached Dwelling to Form Two 1-
Bed Flats & Erection of One 2-Bed Dwelling

Decision:
Decision Date:

DISMISSED
25 June 2019

CURRENT P/19/0095/FP
Appellant:
Site:

HH APPEAL SERVICE
Mr P Boden
9 Blackbrook Park Avenue Fareham

Page 67



Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Officer Delegated Powers
REFUSE
REFUSE
16 July 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
Construction of a two storey rear extension;single storey
side extension; external alterations and alterations to roof
to create an additional storey

CURRENT P/19/0176/FP
Appellant:
Site:

WRITTEN REPS
Moor Construction Ltd
185 Segensworth Road Fareham

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Officer Delegated Powers

REFUSE
15 May 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
Erection of Detached 2-Bed Dwelling Adjacent Existing
Dwelling

CURRENT P/19/0268/AD
Appellant:
Site:

COMMERCIAL APPEAL S.
Drysdale Investments Limited and
Funtley Court 19 Funtley Hill Fareham

Decision Maker:
Recommendation:
Council's Decision:
Date Lodged:
Reason for Appeal:

Officer Delegated Powers

REFUSE
19 June 2019
AGAINST REFUSAL
Retention of four advertisement signs

Page 68


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Planning applications and Miscellaneous Matters including an update on Planning Appeals
	 ZONE 1 - WESTERN WARDS
	6(1) P/19/0510/FP - 71-73 ST MARGARETS LANE FAREHAM PO14 4BG
	 ZONE 2 - FAREHAM
	 ZONE 3 - EASTERN WARDS
	6(2) P/19/0301/FP - LAND EAST OF CROFTON CEMETERY AND WEST OF PEAK LANE FAREHAM
	6(3) Planning Appeals

